
We bring properties to life.

2011
Annual financial Report



Annual Financial Report 2011 | content

Declaration pursuant to section 82(4)(3) 
Austrian Stock Exchange Act (BÖRSEG)� 3

Management Report� 4
Economic overview � 4

Real estate market overview � 5

Group structure and strategy � 10

Business performance and results � 13

Staff and responsibility � 17

Risk and opportunity management � 19

Outlook � 23

Disclosure pursuant to section 243a Uniform Commercial Code (UGB) � 25

Consolidated financial statements� 27

notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements� 35

Auditors’ report� 71

Report of the Supervisory Board� 73

Corporate Governance Report� 75

Einzelabschluss S immo ag                � 79

Content

S IMMO AG | Annual financial report 2011 2



Declaration pursuant to section 82(4)(3) Austrian Stock Exchange Act (BÖRSEG)

„Statement of all legal representatives

We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the consolidated 

financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, 

liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the group as 

required by the applicable accounting standards and that the 

group management report gives a true and fair view of the 

development and performance of the business and the position 

of the group, together with a description of the principal risks 

and uncertainties the group faces. We confirm to the best of our 

knowledge that the separate financial statements give a true and 

fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or 

loss of the parent company as required by the applicable 

accounting standards and that the management report gives a 

true and fair view of the development and performance of the 

business and the position of the company, together with a 

description of the principal risks and uncertainties the company 

faces.”

Vienna, 29 March 2012

The Management Board

			 

Holger Schmidtmayr MRICS m.p. Ernst Vejdovszky m.p. Friedrich Wachernig MBA m.p.
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Management Report

Economic overview

After a strong start to the year characterised by an ongoing 

recovery from the economic and financial crisis of 2008/2009, 

the economic upswing in Europe and the US decelerated over 

the course of 2011. While the Arab Spring caused oil prices to 

skyrocket at the beginning of 2011, a significant portion of 

Japan’s economy was brought to a temporary standstill follow-

ing the earthquake in March 2011. In Europe, the extreme 

indebtedness of some Eurozone countries – first and foremost 

Greece – led to severe uncertainty and a destabilisation of the 

European Union. The faith in the euro was subjected to an 

extreme stress test. International rating agencies downgraded 

the credit ratings of numerous Eurozone countries, and the 

capital markets experienced a slide that was reminiscent of the 

previous financial crisis. The Eurozone countries adopted a 

permanent safety net in the amount of EUR 500bn in order to 

stabilise the debt situation of individual member countries. In 

addition, the European Central Bank lowered the key interest 

rate several times, bringing it to a historic low of 1% in mid-

January 2012.

Germany was the economic powerhouse in Europe in the crisis 

year of 2011, with economic growth of roughly 3%. Austria also 

showed a strong performance, delivering a growth rate of around 

3%. The real estate sector was moderately affected by the 

weaker investment activity in industry. Although there was higher 

demand for residential property, especially among private 

investors, the commercial real estate sector experienced a slight 

decline. The average government debt of the EU member states 

(EU 27) rose to 82.2% of GDP at the end of the third quarter. 

Greece, Italy and Portugal had the highest levels of debt. 

Germany was right in line with the EU average, while Austria was 

slightly below it. The unemployment rate for the EU as a whole 

came to 10% at the end of the year. Austria had the lowest 

unemployment rate in the EU, at roughly 4%.

Sources: Austrian Institute of Economic Research, Budapest Research Forum, CBRE, Colliers, Cushman & Wakefield, Das Wirtschaftsblatt, Die Presse, 

DTZ Research, ECB, EHL, EuroStat, Forton, HotStats.com by TRI Hospitality Consulting 2011, Kohl & Partner, Report Plus, STR Smith Travel Research, 

Trend, Vienna Tourist Board, WKO (Austrian Economic Chambers)

In Central and Southeastern Europe, the crisis year of 2011 

primarily left its mark on the labour market, investment activity 

and the debt situation. However, the year was generally charac-

terised by growth in Central and Southeastern Europe, albeit not 

at the usual level. Bulgaria, for example, saw a persistent boom 

in exports, but domestic demand was weak. The large share of 

the country’s financial sector held by Greek banks could pose a 

problem for Bulgaria in 2012. Romania’s economy is coming out 

of a long phase of stagnation. In 2011, it saw a slight recovery 

– driven by exports, agriculture and industrial production. The 

elections in 2012 could serve as an additional driver of growth. 

The political situation in Hungary led to considerable uncertainty 

among foreign investors. In the past, growth was largely driven 

by foreign demand, but investment activity and consumption are 

currently suffering due to the legal and economic uncertainties. 

There were positive economic developments in Slovakia, which 

once again proved to be an economically stable country in 2011. 

However, the country’s dependence on the European economy 

could have a negative influence on developments there in the 

coming year. The Czech Republic also delivered a positive eco-

nomic performance last year. The moderate growth was driven 

by automobile production and machine building. However, in 

light of the Czech Republic’s rejection of the fiscal package that 

was adopted by the EU, it remains uncertain how the country will 

develop in 2012. Croatia is expected to see a recovery of growth 

provided that the situation in the tourism industry improves. In 

addition, Croatia is set to join the EU as the 28th member on  

01 July 2013. 

In summary, it is safe to say that the decrease of growth will 

continue in Central and Southeastern Europe in 2012. The EBRD 

forecasts a decline to 1.4% for the CEE region and 1% for the 

SEE region. Generally speaking, however, the effects of the euro 

crisis on the countries of Central and Southeastern Europe will 

be less drastic than in the crisis years of 2008/2009.
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Real estate market overview

Austria

The investment volume in Austria amounted to EUR 1.7bn in 

2011 – an increase of 7% year-on-year. In terms of real estate 

transactions, office buildings made up 27%, hotels accounted 

for a further 24%, 18% went to retail properties and residential 

buildings made up 13%. 

Office Market
2011 was a difficult year for the Viennese office market. Rental 

demand decreased during the fourth quarter and the major part 

of take-up was driven by cost-cutting and consolidation efforts. 

On an annual basis, take-up in Vienna fell by 5%, amounting to 

260,000 m². The number of new office space rose by 14% in 

2011 (including general refurbishments). The vacancy rate 

increased to 6.1%. 2012 is expected to be markedly influenced 

by the austerity programme implemented by the government in 

March 2012. 

Retail Market
In the fourth quarter of 2011, demand for retail space continued 

to exceed supply. Nevertheless, retailers are still cautious in 

terms of expansions or new openings and therefore carefully 

appraise markets and offers. Interest is focused on large units in 

prime locations – a trend that is expected to continue in 2012. 

Residential Market
91,000 residential properties were sold in Austria in 2011. Prices 

for freehold flats in prime locations reached a record level as 

they increased by 9%. The minimum price in Vienna already 

amounted to EUR 3,000/m2. This development is mainly 

attributable to the constant strong demand. Especially high-end 

projects are sought after by customers who are not yield-

sensitive. New-built flats in Vienna’s city centre, for example, 

cost EUR 6,200/m² on average. Rents for prime sites rose by an 

average of 5 – 7% during the previous year. Residential market 

prospects for 2012 are bright since prices are expected to 

increase further. Regarding the market for rentable apartment 

buildings (Viennese “Zinshäuser”), demand from private 

investors and trusts also remained strong.

In February 2012, the Austrian government introduced changes 

in real estate taxation within the frame of the austerity package. 

The most fundamental adjustment is the introduction of a 25% 

capital gains tax on realised sales profits.

Hotel Market
Vienna’s tourism industry had a record year in 2011: The 5% 

increase in overnight stays compared to 2010 resulted not only 

in the highest number of overnight stays ever for the Austrian 

hotel industry, but also in a record turnover, with a gain of rough-

ly 9%. This is especially encouraging in light of the fact that the 

number of hotels grew by 9% in the previous year. Current 

benchmark figures also confirm this trend in the chain hotel 

segment, which saw a 5.6% rise in the average room rate  

and thus real turnover growth. Occupancy remained nearly 

unchanged (-0.2% compared to 2010), which led to an overall 

increase of 5.4% in RevPAR, average revenue per available 

room. 

Viennese hoteliers feel optimistic about 2012, especially  

because several major events have once again been booked for 

this year. However, it remains to be seen how the economy will 

develop in Europe as a whole and how these conditions will 

affect the hotel industry.

For the European economy, 2012 will likely be a year of consoli-

dation. The Eurozone economic performance is expected to 

shrink by 0.3%, and it will not start to expand again until 2013, 

when forecasts call for a moderate growth rate of roughly 1%. 

The Austrian economy is also likely to slowly get back into gear. 

In 2012, growth is expected to total 1.6%, and a more robust 

increase is not anticipated until sometime after that. In addition, 

experts are forecasting an increase in unemployment to 10.1% 

for the Eurozone in 2012. The inflation rate for the region is 

expected to come in at 1.7% and the debt ratio at 90.4%.
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Germany

The 2011 transaction volume for commercial properties in 

Germany recorded an increase of 18% year-on-year, amounting 

to EUR 22.62bn. With the best result after the boom years of 

2006/2007, the German commercial real estate market under-

pinned its position as one of the most stable investment markets 

worldwide. In terms of use types, retail properties made up 47% 

of the transaction volume. Office properties accounted for 36%, 

followed by 17% invested in other types such as hotels or 

logistic assets. 

Office Market
In the six most important office markets in Germany (Berlin, 

Munich, Hamburg, Stuttgart, Düsseldorf and Frankfurt), take-up 

amounted to nearly 3,100,000 m² in 2011 – an increase of 16% 

year-on-year. Berlin and Hamburg saw an increase in take-up of 

12% and 7%, respectively. Prime rents rose in many of the city 

centres in 2011, with Stuttgart, Munich and Berlin recording the 

most significant gains. As a result of strong leasing activities, 

limited new completions and high pre-leasing rates, the  

vacancy rate in all cities continued to fall in the fourth quarter and 

amounted to 8.9% for the six most important locations. Office 

investment volumes in 2011 were only a little behind those of 

2010. Investor demand should remain high in 2012.

More than 500,000 m² of new office space are expected to come 

onto the market in 2012. Robust demand and reduced supply of 

premium space in Central Business Districts should lead to an 

increase in prime rents. The 2012 take-up of space is expected 

to be lower than in 2011 due to the current economic situation.

Retail Market
Supported by increasing employment, consumer sentiment in 

Germany was rather strong in 2011. Rents for some top high 

street locations further increased in the fourth quarter due to 

their limited availability. Prime shopping centre rents went up by 

an average of 5% year-on-year. Retail investment volume 

amounted to EUR 10.9bn in 2011. 

Residential Market
The European sovereign debt crisis caused a flight to tangible 

assets, which was especially noticeable on the German 

residential market. Berlin once more underlined its position as 

Europe’s most important local transaction market for residential 

properties. In the capital, 37% of all residential units and 37% of 

Germany’s total investment volume in 2011 were traded. The city 

has recorded a considerable increase in rents during the past 

few years. The German residential market is expected to be as 

strong in 2012 as it was in the previous year. 

CEE

Transaction volumes in Hungary, Slovakia and the Czech 

Republic all recorded substantial increases in 2011. The latter 

even rose from EUR 479m to EUR 2.2bn year-on-year. The 

strong performance in all three markets reflects international 

investors’ improved attitude towards these countries. 

Office Market
After two years of rather weak demand, the Czech office market 

recovered in 2011 – with the vacancy rate in Prague falling to 

12.0%. Furthermore, the highest annual gross take-up ever was 

recorded in the market, amounting to 325,600 m². Volumes for 

office investments were two times higher than in 2010. Especially 

prime assets are sought after, which should help prime yields to 

remain stable in 2012. Supply continues to be very limited, with 

approximately 110,000 m² coming onto the market in 2012.  

The office market is likely to remain stable due to the limited  

pipeline. As in 2011, the focus will lie on lease renewals and 

renegotiations. 

In 2011, the Budapest office stock increased by 87,425 m², 

 – which is 49% less than in 2010. At 397,333 m², annual leasing 

activity reached a record level, coming in 28% higher than in  

the previous year. More than half of the agreements were  

expansions and renewals. Vacancy stood at 19.2% at the end  

of December. The very limited pipeline should help to further 

decrease this rate.

In the fourth quarter of 2011, the office market in Slovakia was 

held back by the reduced economic growth and political 

uncertainties. The lack of new supply kept prime rents in the 
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Central Business District of Bratislava stable. Demand  

decreased significantly compared to 2010 and a shift towards 

renegotiations was noticeable. As a result of the current difficult 

financing situation, there will only be a few new projects coming 

onto the market in 2012.

Retail Market
In 2011, the Czech retail market recorded the lowest level of new 

supply since the late 1990s. The Prague high street market 

remained stable, although consumer spending decreased. 

Rents and turnover stayed steady on the Hungarian retail  

market during 2011. Two new shopping centres were opened 

successfully. Slower economic growth and dampened con

sumer spending are expected to affect the retail market  

in 2012.

In 2011, take-up on the Slovakian retail market was mostly driven 

by renegotiations and relocations. Two projects were opened in 

2011. Given the number of new developments during the last 

two years and the various upcoming projects, pressure on 

shopping centres in less attractive locations will increase and 

cause their rents to decline further. 

Hotel Market
The Budapest hotel market developed very well in the first half of 

the year due to the Hungarian EU presidency and the strong 

conference segment. This positive trend also continued in the 

second half of the year. The chain hotel segment saw an increase 

of roughly 5% in occupancy and an improvement of around 10% 

year-on-year in RevPAR from January to November 2011. The 

Prague hotel market also achieved growth once again in 2011, 

and RevPAR improved by 5.2%. While the figures are still below 

the record levels achieved in 2008, Prague appears to be over-

coming the low following the difficult years of 2009 and 2010 and 

to have entered into a recovery phase. The development of the 

Budapest and Prague hotel markets is very dependent on eco-

nomic conditions in Europe. As a result, it is difficult to make any 

predictions for 2012, especially for Budapest. The hotel market 

in Bratislava continues to be marked by oversupply, which 

results in low capacity and continued strong pressure on room 

prices.

SEE

In 2011, both Romania and Bulgaria saw an increase in 

investment activity. The latter had a good 2011 due to greater 

macroeconomic stability. The tightening of the financing 

conditions is expected to significantly limit investment market 

activities in the first half of 2012, especially in Romania. 

Office Market
In the fourth quarter of the previous year, 71,000 m² of new office 

space were added to Sofia’s office market. Despite being the 

best performing quarter in terms of take-up, vacancy increased 

further to 30.7% as new supply is still higher than demand. The 

development pipeline slowed down markedly. Nevertheless, 

approximately 120,000 m² are expected to be completed in 

2012. Demand is likely to remain stable, primarily driven by lease 

renewals. 

In 2011, the Romanian office market saw a drop in good  

available space. Gross take-up was 19% higher than in 2010. 

Nevertheless, absorption remains low as lease renewals  

account for most of the activity. The vacancy rate for Bucharest 

decreased to 14.2%. In 2012, there will be limited new supply 

and take-up is expected to stay at the same level as in 2011.

In 2011, the Zagreb office market had to deal with five new 

buildings. Demand was mainly driven by lease renewals and 

cost reduction efforts, which resulted in a net absorption close to 

zero. New deliveries consequently led to an increase in vacancy 

to almost 11.0%. Average office rents decreased by 5.5 – 7.0% 

during 2011. In 2012, eight new buildings – bringing additional 

100,000 m² on Zagreb’s office market – will put rents under 

further downward pressure. 

Retail Market
In 2011, there were no shopping centre openings in Sofia. The 

average vacancy rate in shopping centres was 6.0% in the 

second half of 2011 and is expected to stay at this level until the 

opening of new schemes in 2012. In 2012/2013, three new 

shopping centres (Sofia Ring Mall, Paradise Centre and  

Bulgaria Mall) will be delivered to Sofia’s retail market, offering 

approximately 180,000 m² of GLA. Rental levels are expected to 

fall. Consumer spending is also unlikely to improve, causing 

retailers to expect a challenging year.  
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The 2011 supply level of the retail market in Romania was similar 

to the one in the thriving years of 2007 and 2009. Due to the low 

number of new projects, gross letting area delivered in 2012 will 

only be half the size of 2011. Demand is expected to grow in 

2012 due to improved economic conditions, attractive pricing 

and looser monetary policies. Rents and vacancies are  

expected to remain stable, with small rent increases in the  

top performing malls. 

Hotel Market
The development of occupancy and room rates in Bucharest in 

2011 compared to the two prior years suggests that this market 

has bottomed out. Nevertheless, it is far below the figures 

achieved prior to 2009. As in CEE, the overall economic con

ditions in Europe will be decisive for the development of the 

hotel market in Bucharest in the coming year.

CEE/SEE

Prime rents  
(EUR/m²/month)

Prime yields  
(%)

Gross take-up 2011 
(m²)

Vacancy rate  
(%)

Office Q4

Bratislava 17.001,2 7.251,2 99,2008 11.2 8

Bucharest 18.50 2 – 19.501 8.251 – 9.002 262,0009 14.1 9

Budapest 20.001,2 7.251,2 397,3336 19.2 6

Prague 21.001,2 6.252 – 6.501 325,6003 12.0 3

Sofia 12.002 – 13.001 9.351 – 9.502 120,0007 30.7 2

Zagreb 15.751 8.301 31,00011 11.0 1

Retail Q4

Bratislava* 85.001 7.001 – 7.252   

Bucharest* 50.001 8.751   

Budapest* 100.001 6.502 – 7.001   

Prague* 85.001 5.752 – 6.251   

Sofia* 25.001 – 27.0010 9.001,2   

Zagreb* 23.501 8.251   

*	Data for shopping centres 

1	 CBRE, Market View EMEA Rents and Yields Q4 2011
2	 Cushman & Wakefield, Marketbeat Snapshots Q4 2011
3	 CBRE, Market View Snapshot Czech Republic 2011
4	 CBRE, Market View Vienna Office Market  
5	� Colliers International, Office and Investment Market Report Germany Q4 2011
6	� Budapest Research Forum, press release on the Budapest office market Q4 2011

7	� Colliers International, Eastern Europe Market 

Snapshot 2012
8	 CBRE, Market View Bratislava Offices Q4 2011
9	 CBRE, Market View Bucharest Offices Q4 2011
10	Forton, Bulgarian Retail Market Q4 2011
11	CBRE, Market View Zagreb Office Market 2011
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Austria/Germany

Prime rents  
(EUR/m²/month)

Prime yields  
(%)

Gross take-up 2011 
(m²)

Vacancy rate  
(%)

Office Q4

Vienna 23.502 – 23.751 5.201 – 5.352 260,0004 6.144

Berlin 21.502 – 22.001 5.002 – 5.101 607,3005 7.955

Hamburg 23.001 – 23.502 4.901 – 4.952 540,0005 8.055

Retail Q4

Vienna* 229.001 – 275.002 4.252 – 4.401   

Berlin* 260.001 – 280.002 4.702 – 4.751   

Hamburg* 250.001 – 290.002 4.401,2   

*	Data for high street retail 

1	 CBRE, Market View EMEA Rents and Yields Q4 2011
2	 Cushman & Wakefield, Marketbeat Snapshots Q4 2011
3	 CBRE, Market View Snapshot Czech Republic 2011
4	 CBRE, Market View Vienna Office Market  
5	� Colliers International, Office and Investment Market Report Germany Q4 2011

Macroeconomic Information for S IMMO Investment Countries (forecast)

GDP growth (real, y/y) Budget deficit (% GDP) Debt/GDP

in % 2011f 2012f 2011f 2012f 2011f 2012f

Austria 2.9 – 3.3 0.9 – 1.3 -3.4 – -3.1 -2.9 72.5 74.0

Bulgaria 2.0 –  3.0 2.2 – 3.5 -2.5 – -0.8 -1.7 – -0.3 17.5 – 20 19.7

Croatia 0.3 -1.0 -5.5 -4.5 62.9 66.0

Czech Republic 1.6 – 2.0 0.0 – 1.0 -4.1 – -3.7 -4.0 – -3.5 42.7 44.8

Germany 3 0.6 -1.7 – -1.1 -1.1 82.6 81.9

Hungary 1.6 -0.5 3.8 -3.4 – -2.8 75.9  – 80.2 77.0

Romania 1.7 – 2.3 1.2 – 1.4 -4.8 -3.4 33.2 34.7

Slovakia 3.0 1.0 -5.8 – -5.0 -4.8 44.1 47.6

EU 1.6 0.5 – 1.4 -4.5 -3.9 – -3.5 82.3 83.4

Eurozone 1.5 – 1.6 0.5 – 0.6 -4.1 -3.4 88.0 90.4

Sources: Cushman & Wakefield, Erste Group, IMF, WKO
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Unemployment (average) CPI (y/y, average) Current account balance 
(% GDP)

in % 2011f 2012f 2011f 2012f 2011f 2012f

Austria 4.1 4.3 3.3 2.2 – 2.4 2.5 0.0 – 2.8

Bulgaria 8.0  – 12.2 6.7 – 12.1 3.6 – 5.3 2.4 – 3.3 -1.5 – 1.6 -2.0 – 1.4

Croatia 14.5 14.5 3.2 2.5 -0.5 -0.7

Czech Republic 6.8 – 8.5 7.0 – 8.7 1.9 2.4 – 2.9 -3.6 – -1.9 -4.0 – -1.5

Germany 6.1 – 7.1 5.9 – 6.9 2.3 1.8 5.0 4.4 – 4.9

Hungary 10.9 11.2 3.9 4.6 – 5.2 1.4 – 2.0 2.9 – 4.0

Romania 5.1 – 8.2 4.9 – 7.8 5.8 3.1 -3.9 -5.0 – -4.1

Slovakia 13.3 14.1 3.9 1.7 – 3.0 -0.8 -1.5

EU 9.7 9.8 3.0 1.8 -0.2 0.0

Eurozone 10.0 9.8 2.6 1.7 -0.6 -0.5

Sources: Cushman & Wakefield, Erste Group, IMF, WKO

Group structure and strategy

Business activities and  
corporate structure 

S IMMO Group is an international real estate group head

quartered in Vienna, Austria. The parent company, S IMMO AG, 

is Austria’s first property investment company and has been 

listed on the Vienna Stock Exchange since 1987. Its long-term 

strategic core shareholders are Erste Group and Vienna 

Insurance Group, two of the largest financial services providers 

in Central and Southeastern Europe.  

In addition to its headquarters in Vienna, S IMMO Group also 

has offices in Berlin and Budapest, and during the year under 

review employed a total of 56 people in these three countries. In 

Germany, S IMMO Group also owns a property management 

company, Maior Domus. There are also numerous project and 

property holding companies in Central and Eastern Europe that 

are directly or indirectly part of the Group (pages 36 – 38 in the 

notes). 

S IMMO Group 

S IMMO AG (Vienna) 

S IMMO Germany GmbH 
(Berlin)

S IMMO Hungary Kft.  
(Budapest)

Maior Domus Hausverwal-
tungs GmbH (Berlin)

Various project and property 
holding companies 

   
   

   
   

   
  G

er
m
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y 2

8.4%       
               CEE 19.2%
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The Company focuses on long-term income-producing property 

investments (property acquisition, property letting, asset 

management and property sales) and property project develop-

ments in Austria, Germany and six countries in Central and 

Southeastern Europe. 

S IMMO Group’s network of subsidiaries is managed centrally. 

All major management functions as well as the asset manage-

ment for the Austrian, Romanian, Bulgarian and Croatian 

properties are provided by the parent company in Vienna. The 

subsidiaries in Germany and Hungary are responsible for the 

local asset management and letting activities. 

Portfolio structure 
A major pillar of S IMMO AG’s business success is its balanced 

property portfolio, which is diversified by region and property 

use type. The Group owns a total of 236 properties, with total 

usable space of some 1.4m m² and a carrying value of 

EUR  1,969.5m. As at 31 December 2011, the portfolio was 

comprised of office (37.8%), retail (24.1%) and residential 

properties (24.6%) as well as hotels (13.5%). S IMMO Group 

owns buildings in Austria, Germany, the Czech Republic, 

Slovakia, Hungary, Croatia, Bulgaria and Romania. The largest 

share of the property portfolio by market value is contributed by 

Austria with 32.3% and Germany with 28.4%. Properties in SEE 

make up 20.1% and 19.2% come from CEE. Within these 

markets, our focus is principally on investments in Vienna, Berlin 

and Hamburg as well as other European Union capital cities. 

The overall occupancy rate is a highly satisfactory 92.5% and  

the overall rental yield stands at 6.7%.

Overview of rental yields

in %
31 December 

2011

Germany 6.2

Austria 5.6

SEE 8.5

CEE 7.6

Total 6.7

The Company currently has over 6,800 differently-sized tenants. 

More than 95% of all rental agreements are tied to the euro, and 

commercial rentals are also linked to the EuroStat consumer 

price index. The average length of the rental agreements of our 

top 25 tenants is around 9.4 years. 
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otel 13.5%                     Office 37.8%
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tial 24.6%

                Retail 24.1%     
   

Market value  
by property  

use type

Market value 
by region

(estimated values including 
carrying value of land)
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STANDARD CORPORATE LOGO (RETAIL, POP MATERIAL, PACKAGING, ETC) + FONT ADV LOGO INDIAN LOGO (TO BE USED AS 2ND OPTION ON PRODUCT, BACKGROUNDS, ETC BUT NOT AS THE MAIN LOGO)

Selection of new tenants 2011

Strategy and targets 

In 2010 and 2011, S IMMO successfully developed and opened 

properties worth more than EUR 500m. After project completions 

and the portfolio expansion phase, the focus over the coming 

quarters will be on holding high-quality standing properties over 

the long term and increasing earnings performance. We will take 

advantage of the currently challenging market environment and 

create sustainable added value for our shareholders. 

In order to achieve our goals, we will continue to rely on our 

proven diversification strategy, optimising opportunities and 

risks by investing in both the established markets of Austria and 

Germany and growth markets such as Romania and Bulgaria. 

We intend to maintain the portfolio’s diversification by country 

while focusing on European Union capitals. This will give us the 

balanced portfolio that will allow us to use the advantages of the 

various regions and property cycles for the benefit of our 

investors. The German residential property market, for example, 

is currently enjoying an upswing, which is reflected in gains on 

property disposals above their estimated values. In Berlin, we 

disposed of rental apartment buildings at a price of over 

EUR 2,000/m² for the first time. Over the coming years, we are 

planning to dispose of approximately 5% of our portfolio each 

year at a profit. 

We monitor our investments very carefully, using established 

criteria and processes. Given the present market climate, we will 

not begin construction on new development projects over the 

short term. Over the medium term, we shall be focusing on the 

Quartier Belvedere development, one of Europe’s largest inner-

city construction projects centred at Vienna’s future Central 

Station. Together with partners, we will realise the prominent 

sub-project Quartier Belvedere Central with a gross floor space 

of approximately 136,000 m² and a mix of use types including 

office, hotel and retail properties. The development of the various 

parts of the project will take place in stages. 

In the interest of sustainability and recognising our social 

responsibilities, we pay close attention to the need for the  

highest standards in materials and construction techniques in 

both standing properties and development projects. The out-

standing quality of our properties has been recognised with top 

awards: For example, Serdika Center in Bulgaria was awarded 

the DGNB Gold Certificate by the Bulgarian Green Building 

Council. The use of energy-saving and sustainable building 

materials, state-of-the-art construction methods and modern 

thermal and acoustic insulation materials lowers operating costs. 

This benefits both tenants and investors.

In 2012, we will reduce administrative expenses by a further 10% 

as compared with 2010. 
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In the capital markets, the participating certificate and share 

repurchase programmes will be continued in the first half of 

2012, with the former running until 20 June 2012 and the latter 

ending on 31 May 2012. The difference between the net asset 

value of the S IMMO Share and its current market price makes 

the share repurchase programme one of the most sensible 

investments we can make at present. By repurchasing the 

participating certificates (also for less than their inner value), we 

are making an important step towards further simplifying our 

capital structure and increasing our Group’s value for our 

shareholders. 

Additional factors such as 25 years of experience in property 

investment, extensive knowledge of properties and regional 

markets, a strong network of partners and well established 

contacts to equity capital providers and lenders will continue to 

contribute to the success of the Group’s operations in the 

coming years. 

Management and control 

The Management Board of S IMMO AG consists of three mem-

bers who are jointly responsible for managing the Company’s 

day-to-day affairs. The responsibilities are determined by statu-

tory provisions, the articles of incorporation and the Group’s 

internal rules and procedures. The Management Board is guided 

by the principles of responsible management, and its objective 

is to increase earnings performance and the value of the  

Group. In this, professional control and management based on 

general business and property-related indicators are of material 

importance. In the best interests of the Group and in line with our 

commitment to good corporate governance, the Management 

Board works closely with the Supervisory Board. At year-end,  

the Supervisory Board consisted of eight members. The details 

of compliance with the Austrian Corporate Governance Code 

are given on pages 75 – 78.

Business performance and results

S IMMO’s operating results for the financial year 2011 were 

excellent. In particular, rental income, cash flow and funds from 

operations (FFO) all increased sharply compared with the 

previous year. 

Gross profit up 33.4% 
The increase in S IMMO Group’s rental income in 2011 was 

remarkably strong: it grew to EUR 125.9m (2010: EUR 104.0m), 

an increase of 21.1%. A large part of the increase was attributable 

to the development projects and acquisitions completed in 

2010. Despite a generally challenging economic environment, 

gross profit from hotel operations also increased by 3.9% to 

EUR 9.0m (2010: EUR 8.7m). 

Broken down by region, rental income was as follows: the  

largest share came from Germany, with 28.9% (2010: 34.0%), 

followed by SEE with 25.2% (2010: 25.1%), Austria with 24.6% 

(2010: 20.9%) and CEE with 21.3% (2010: 20.0%). 

Total rental income*

in EUR m

  CEE
  SEE
  Austria
  Germany

* not including Vienna Marriott Hotel and Budapest Marriott Hotel

85.7 87.6

104.0

125.9
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Retail contributed the most to rental income by property use 

type, with 35.7% (2010: 37.9%), followed by offices with 34.7% 

(2010: 30.2%), residential with 22.2% (2010: 26.9%) and hotels 

with 7.4% (2010: 5.0%). Results from the Vienna Marriott Hotel 

and the Budapest Marriott Hotel, both leased to hotel operators, 

are recognised as revenues from hotel operations. 

Gross profit was up an impressive EUR 26.8m to EUR 107.0m 

(2010: EUR 80.2m), an increase of 33.4%. 

EBITDA up 42.0% 
In the financial year 2011, eight freehold apartments in the 

Neutor 1010 and Stuckgasse properties as well as an apartment 

building – all in Vienna – were sold. In Berlin, one retail and nine 

residential buildings as well as eight freehold apartments in the 

residential property Sächsische Strasse were sold. These 

disposals are in line with the company’s strategy of selling parts 

of the portfolio where a profit can be realised. Overall, the 

properties were disposed of at above their most recent  

estimated values. Gains from disposals came to EUR 11.6m 

(2010: EUR 9.9m). In addition, management expenses were 

reduced by EUR 1.5m from EUR 18.7m to EUR 17.2m. This led 

to a marked increase in EBITDA of 42.0%, or EUR 30.0m, to 

EUR 101.4m (2010: EUR 71.4m). 

Advantageous property disposals 
Vienna 
1010 Vienna, Neutorgasse 4 – 8 (residential) 

1070 Vienna, Stuckgasse 9 (residential) 

1190 Vienna, Heiligenstädter Strasse 181 (residential) 

Berlin 
10629 Berlin, Mommsenstrasse 60 (residential) 

10551 Berlin, Waldenserstrasse 32 (residential) 

10437 Berlin, Gaudystrasse 10 (residential) 

13405 Berlin, Scharnweberstrasse 72 – 74 (residential) 

12059 Berlin, Werrastrasse 11 − 14a, Weserstrasse 133 − 137, 

Treptower Strasse 84 (residential) 

12059 Berlin, Ederstrasse 7 (residential) 

10715 Berlin, Weimarische Strasse 15 (residential) 

10961 Berlin, Fürbringer Strasse 27 (residential) 

10707 Berlin, Sächsische Strasse 15 − 16 und 19 (residential) 

10999 Berlin, Reichenbergstrasse 58 (residential) 

13359 Berlin, Koloniestrasse 23 − 24 (retail) 

* not including Vienna Marriott Hotel and Budapest Marriott Hotel
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Property valuations 
As in the previous year, the revaluation results demonstrate 

different developments by region, which correlate with each 

regions economic recovery. In total, the real estate assets slightly 

increased in value by approximately EUR 0.1m.

Revaluation results 

EUR m 2011 2010

Germany 6.0 13.7

Austria 9.3 22.3

Central Europe -4.6 -8.5

Southeastern Europe -10.6 -28.3

Total 0.1 -0.8

The operating profit (EBIT) grew by EUR 31.7m to EUR 92.3m 

(2010: EUR 60.5m), an impressive increase of 52.4%. 

Consolidated net income up to EUR 21.2m 
Net financing costs totalled EUR 51.5m (2010: EUR 41.2m), 

including a non-cash foreign exchange gain of EUR 7.3m. The 

gain was attributable to the rise of the euro against functional 

currencies in Central and Southeastern Europe (Romanian leu, 

Hungarian forint, Czech crown and Croatian kuna). The income 

entitlements of participating certificate holders for 2011 resulted 

in expenses of EUR 11.2m (2010: EUR 10.2m). 

Consolidated net profit for the financial year 2011 came to 

EUR  21.2m (2010: EUR 2.1m). This represents a tenfold  

increase in value compared to the same period last year.

Funds from operations (FFO) 
The development projects and acquisitions completed in 2010 

– in particular the Galvaniho IV property in Bratislava and the 

OMV headquarters in Vienna – resulted in a considerable 

increase in income, which in turn led to an increase in FFO. 

S IMMO’s FFO rose markedly in 2011 – by 54.6% – to EUR 28.9m 

(2010: EUR 18.7m). This gives a very respectable FFO yield 

related to the share price of 9.4%. FFO before participating 

certificate expenses was EUR 40.1m, compared with  

EUR 28.9m in 2010. In calculating FFO before participating 

certificate expenses, the results for the period are adjusted for 

non-cash items, which include depreciation and amortisation, 

valuation gains and losses on interest rate hedges, exchange 

rate differences, and all effects of servicing the participating 

certificates.  

Net operating income (NOI) 
The Group’s excellent performance was also reflected in the 

improved NOI, which rose from EUR 75.2m to EUR 99.3m. This 

increase is also a result of the projects completed in 2010. 

Net operating income as of 31 December 

2011 2010 Change

NOI (EUR m) 99.3 75.2 31.9%

NOI margin (%) 47.8 43.0 4.8 pp

Cumulative cash flow in 2011 

EUR m 31.03. 30.06. 30.09. 31.12. 

Operating 
cash flow 27.5 51.3 74.1 96.0

Operating cash flow for the year was also very satisfactory, and 

rose from EUR 74.2m in 2010 to EUR 96.0m in 2011. Cash flow 

from investing activities totalled EUR 4.5m (2010: EUR -36.5m), 

and from financing activities EUR -124.9m (2010: EUR -84.4m). 

Assets and finances 

As at 31 December 2011, S IMMO Group’s total assets amount-

ed to EUR 2.2bn (2010: EUR 2.3bn), of which – in line with its 

business activities – the bulk was attributable to the property 

portfolio. Long-term property assets amounted to EUR 1.9bn 

(2010: EUR 2.0bn) and short-term property assets amounted to 

EUR 62.8m (2010: EUR 6.0m). 
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Cash and cash equivalents 
At balance sheet date, S IMMO Group’s cash and cash 

equivalents totalled EUR 115.3m (2010: EUR 129.7m). 

Shareholders’ equity 
During the past financial year, equity (excluding minorities) 

decreased from EUR 481.3m to EUR 474.0m. This also reflects 

the valuation of derivative financial instruments and treasury 

shares not through profit or loss. The minority interests in equity 

decreased from EUR 31.4m to EUR 29.1m and for the most part 

relate to partners in the Serdika Center project. 

Finance management 
In spite of the banks’ very restrictive lending policies, in particular 

for foreign real estate projects, S IMMO succeeded as planned 

in refinancing several standing properties with long-term borrow-

ings in 2011. S IMMO Group’s non-current financial liabilities 

decreased from EUR 1,228.8m to EUR 1,103.4m. The current 

financial liabilities increased from EUR 124.1m to EUR 208.9m 

during the period under review. 

The non-current financial liabilities were matched by property 

assets of EUR 1,969.5m. The loan-to-value ratio at 31 December 

2011 was 61% (2010: 61%).

The financial liabilities had the following terms: 

Less than 1 year EUR 208.9m 

1 – 5 years EUR 328.9m

More than 5 years EUR 774.5m

To minimise foreign exchange risks, S IMMO Group finances 

itself almost exclusively in euro. About 92% of the non-current 

financial liabilities are at variable interest rates pegged to the 

Euribor and 8% are at fixed interest rates. Possible changes in 

interest rates are hedged with interest derivatives (caps, swaps, 

collars). 

Net asset value (NAV) 
As at 31 December 2011, the balance sheet NAV stood at 

EUR 6.96 per share (31 December 2010: EUR 7.07 per share). 

The EPRA NAV, the value of the share calculated in accordance 

with the guidelines of the European Public Real Estate Associa-

tion, was EUR 8.70 per share (31 December 2010: EUR 8.34 per 

share). EPRA NAV represents the value of equity minus the 

effects that do not have a long-term effect on the business 

activities of the Group, such as valuations of derivatives and 

deferred taxes. 

EUR m 2011 2010

Capital and reserves  
(without minorities) 474.0 481.3

Revaluation of other assets 15.5 9.0

Fair value of financial 
instruments (not through  
profit or loss) 73.5 50.0

Deferred taxes 29.1 27.5

EPRA NAV 592.1 567.8

EPRA NAV (EUR per share) 8.70 8.34

Balance sheet structure 2011
EUR m

Current 
assets   

Non-current 
assets   

 �C urrent 
liabilities

 
 �N on-current  
liabilities 

 E quity 

2,175.4 2,175.4

257.9218.5

1,414.4

503.11,956.9

Assets Equity and 
liabilities
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Staff and responsibility 

S IMMO’s properties cater to one of the fundamental human 

needs – for somewhere to live and to work. As a result, the 

Group has a close and very special involvement with society in 

many regards. This closeness forms the basis for S  IMMO’s 

responsible approach to business, the environment and social 

issues that far exceeds the requirements mandated by law. With 

its corporate social responsibility strategy, the Group focuses on 

capital preservation and sustainable growth in value, while taking 

into account the interests of the most important stakeholders – 

tenants, business partners, shareholders and staff. 

Employees 

Lifelong learning a key factor 
S IMMO’s corporate culture is built around lean and very efficient 

structures and relies on productive collaboration across 

departmental boundaries. However, this performance-oriented 

environment also provides the scope for individual growth. After 

all, highly qualified and motivated employees are S IMMO’s 

most important asset. The Group therefore encourages and 

supports the personal and professional development of all its 

employees. 

The principal focus is on expanding industry-related skills and 

expertise. S IMMO assists its employees in obtaining sector-

specific master’s degree qualifications or in becoming members 

of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS), the pre-

eminent professional body for real estate specialists located in 

the UK. In 2011, average expenditures per employee for profes-

sional training and continuing education came to EUR 900. 

Promoting a healthy work-life balance 
To a very large extent, S IMMO’s success depends on the 

dedication, commitment and continuing good health of every 

individual employee. The Group is aware of its responsibilities in 

this respect and sponsors a range of measures designed to 

encourage a healthy work-life balance. These include extensive 

medical services, such as medical screenings, general check-

ups and flu vaccinations, as well as sports activities. 

Employee statistics*

* Total number of employees: 89
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Highest property standards 
For S IMMO, corporate social responsibility starts with the 

Group’s core business. This means applying the most exacting 

standards with respect to construction techniques and  

materials, both in development projects and when refurbishing 

existing properties or enhancing their energy efficiency, thus 

reducing operating costs and contributing significantly to 

environmental protection. 

In 2011, S IMMO continued to focus, among other things, on its 

extensive refurbishment programme in Germany, including 

investments in structural work such as repairs to facades and 

stairways, and direct investments in individual apartments. 

These activities helped raise the occupancy rate in Germany to 

90%, and rental income grew by 3.3%. Additionally, since the 

end of 2011, all the common areas of properties in the German 

portfolio have been powered by 100% renewable energy. This 

change will save over 1,100 tons of CO2 per year, equivalent to 

the CO2 binding capacity of over 58,000 beech trees. 

Case study: refurbishment of residential complex  
in Berlin 
In the annual report for 2009, S IMMO announced the renovation 

of a 22,355 m² residential complex in the Marzahn district in 

Berlin to improve thermal efficiency. The work was successfully 

completed in March 2011 with the insulation of the building shell 

and the basement ceiling. The energy efficiency of the six 

buildings is now 30% better than required even under the strict 

German standards. The benefits of this investment are reduced 

heating costs for the tenants and reduced CO2 emissions into 

the environment. Moreover, the previous vacancy has been 

almost completely reduced. 

Green buildings – the way of the future 
In recent years, public awareness of the importance of sustain-

able building practices has increased significantly, and as a 

consequence, green building certification is growing in 

importance. Green buildings are easier to market, and they fulfil 

tenants’ and investors’ requirements for lower life-cycle costs. 

Sustainability is becoming a more and more integral part of 

corporate philosophies and thus influences potential customers’ 

choice of premises. 

In 2011, S IMMO was awarded three green building certificates. 

The shopping centre Serdika Center in Sofia and the office 

space located above it, Serdika Offices, were awarded a DGNB 

certificate by the Bulgarian Green Building Council. Sun Offices 

in Bucharest was awarded certification under the British green 

building standard, BREEAM. S IMMO will continue to aim for 

internationally recognised certifications in future development 

projects. 

Responsible management 
Long-term and sustainable capital growth is a part of S IMMO’s 

strategy based on its high-quality property portfolio, diversified 

by property use type, investment volume and location. The 

Group invests in prime locations in European Union capitals. 

For S IMMO, responsible management means, on the one hand, 

observing the strict internal guidelines for all its work processes 

from awarding contracts through to accepting gifts. On the other 

hand, the Group has been clearly committed to the Austrian 

Corporate Governance Code since 2007. S IMMO also attaches 

great importance – within legal framework – to transparent and 

open communication with all its stakeholders, and provides a 

wide range of information services, such as the redesigned and 

considerably improved website brought online in 2011 or the 

toll-free shareholder hotline. 

S IMMO is also involved in industry associations. As a member 

of the Austrian Association of Institutional Real Estate Investors 

(Verband der Institutionellen Immobilieninvestoren), the Group 

is, among other things, campaigning for the modernisation of 

tenancy law, thereby helping to shape the future framework of 

the industry responsibly. 
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Corporate social responsibility 

S IMMO’s social and cultural activities are inspired by the motto 

of providing shelter: It supports organisations that provide care 

and accommodation to people in need as well as various art 

and culture projects. In all these activities, the Group places a 

high value on long-term collaboration. 

The following are some of the projects supported in 2011: 

	 Caritas cooperations

	 – Youth and day centre in Kiev, Ukraine 

	 – House of hope and counselling, Romania 

	 – Day centre and mobile care in Pokrovan, Bulgaria 

	 Sonnenmond children’s hospice, Austria 

	 Fifth Viennese Arts Supermarket, Austria 

	 Turn On Architecture Festival in Vienna, Austria 

For further information on S IMMO’s social projects, please  

visit our website.

Outlook for 2012 
In 2012, S IMMO is planning to continue its collaboration with the 

mentioned institutions and also to support smaller projects 

financially or with specialist expertise. For the first time, staff will 

be offered the opportunity to participate directly in CSR activities 

through corporate volunteering. The Group is also investigating 

various options for optimising energy and water consumption at 

corporate headquarters in Vienna. In 2011, S IMMO joined 

respACT, Austria’s leading 

corporate platform for CSR 

and sustainable develop-

ment, and in 2012 the Group 

plans to make use of more 

of respACT’s offers. 

Contacts 
For more information on our 

CSR activities, please con-

tact S IMMO’s Corporate Communications team, by phone on 

+43 (0)50 100-27522 or by e-mail at media@simmoag.at. 

Additional information about our 

CSR partners can be found at:

www.kunstsupermarkt.at

www.caritas.at 

www.nextroom.at/turn-on_12

www.sonnenmond.at

Risk and opportunity management

As an international real estate investment company, S IMMO 

Group sees itself confronted by a large number of risks that can 

influence both its operational business activities and its strategic 

corporate management. Through the ongoing identification, 

analysis, management and monitoring of risks, the Company 

tries to recognise dangerous developments and potential 

opportunities in due time and take them into account in its 

decision-making processes.

The Company’s business model includes a portfolio strategy 

adapted to different regions and property use types. The 

purpose of this two-dimensional diversification is the deliberate 

diversification of risk and the maximisation of opportunities. 

Opportunities result from the different real estate cycles of  

the individual property use types, but also from regional 

differentiation. 

Along with internal guidelines, risk management comprises 

regular reports to the Management Board and control  

measures that are established for the entire Company, which 

serve to support the timely identification, monitoring and control 

of risks. The Management Board makes the key risk-related 

decisions. Investment projects above a certain volume also 

require approval by the Supervisory Board. Both managing 

bodies are informed about risks and the Internal control system 

at regular intervals. 
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Internal Control System
The Internal Control System (ICS) was implemented for key 

business processes. It monitors and controls 

	 the effectiveness and economic efficiency of operating 

activities (e.g. the protection of assets against loss, damage or 

misappropriation),

	 the reliability of financial reporting, and

	 compliance with applicable statutory provisions.

The Internal Control System is based on the internationally 

recognised standards of the Committee of Sponsoring 

Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) and 

together with Internal Audit and the compliance systems 

constitutes the Company’s internal monitoring system. Key core 

processes − in particular those of accounting and financial 

reporting − are recorded in the internal processes database. 

This includes a risk management matrix in which the relevant 

processes, the potential individual risks and the pertinent control 

procedures are defined. 

The major ICS features built into the accounting process are as 

follows:

	 Clear, written division of responsibilities between Finance 

and Accounting as well as other areas (e.g. Treasury)

	 Guidelines for the application of uniform accounting and 

valuation approaches within the consolidated financial state-

ments (IFRS)

	 Assessment of risks that could lead to a material mis

statement of transactions in the financial statements

	 Appropriate control mechanisms built into the automated 

preparation of the consolidated financial statements

	 Internal reporting (Management and Supervisory Boards) 

including quarterly reports, segment and liquidity reports, and if 

necessary individual property reports

	 Process-oriented control activities including regular 

monitoring of the correctness and completeness of accounting 

information and analysis of results not in line with estimates 

Internal Audit
S IMMO’s Internal Audit develops strategic multi-year plans and 

yearly operational audit plans that are subject to approval by the 

Management Board. Further, it coordinates audits that are 

normally carried out by external experts. The results of the audits 

are submitted to the Management Board. The audit plan and the 

results of the audits are also regularly communicated to the 

Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board.

Explanation of individual risks

Group strategy risks
Strategic risks are closely connected to S IMMO’s business 

strategy and may also influence it heavily. These include environ-

mental and sector risks, investment risks and capital market 

risks. 

Environmental and sector risks
The economic conditions in S IMMO’s particular markets 

influence the development of the real estate industry in the 

respective region. From a current perspective, the Company’s 

main expectation is that demand for residential property in 

Austria and Germany will increase further. However, the property 

market in Southeastern Europe – especially in Bulgaria – will 

continue to present a challenge. This could have a negative 

impact both on the letting situation in the office buildings and on 

the expected results in the two shopping centres, Sun Plaza in 

Bucharest and Serdika Center in Sofia. 

Investment risks
Another major element of the Group’s strategy aims to  

recognise potential investment risks in the selection of proper-

ties. In the preparatory phases of investment decisions, S IMMO 

Group attaches great importance to comprehensive internal  

and external analyses. Here, factors such as the attractiveness 

of a location, infrastructure and the credit rating of the tenants 

are taken into consideration. There are also predetermined 

thresholds specifying which investment volumes require 

approval by the Supervisory Board or the Supervisory Board 

Working Committee. In the short term, no new large-scale 

investments are planned. 
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Capital market risks
The capital market is particularly important to S IMMO as a 

potential source of refinancing. However, due to the current 

volatility of the stock markets and the low price of the S IMMO 

Share, further financial arrangements on the stock market are 

not planned at the moment. Nevertheless, S IMMO is constantly 

analysing appropriate means of raising capital on the financial 

market. Longer-term financial projections are used to plan 

borrowing and repayment as well as capital investments. 

S  IMMO endeavours to build investors’ trust in the S IMMO 

Share by communicating transparently, on a timely basis and 

efficiently with its investors, analysts and other interested parties. 

To ensure compliance with the requirements of the capital 

markets, S IMMO Group has introduced compliance regulations 

with a code of good conduct for staff and managing bodies as 

well as clearly defined roles for the compliance officer. 

Real estate risks
Economically challenging times can lead to falling credit ratings 

for tenants, increasing arrears of rent, rising vacancy rates and 

tenant defaults.

Property portfolio risks
S IMMO Group reduces property portfolio risks with a broad 

diversification in terms of regions and property use types. In 

2011, this risk was not the same in all segments and countries. 

Residential construction made good progress, which led to a 

reduction in the corresponding risks. This benefited S IMMO’s 

residential portfolio in Germany in particular. Additionally from a 

risk management perspective, the focus of business activities 

on countries with long-term development potential and on 

European Union capital cities has contributed materially to a 

stable portfolio as a whole.

Letting risks
Letting risks are closely linked with the general economic 

environment in the individual markets. Current political and 

economic developments in Hungary, Romania and Bulgaria, for 

instance, have resulted in a higher risk there than in other EU 

countries. In the last financial year, the emphasis on long-term 

letting proved its worth as a way of minimising risk. As a 

consequence, the Company had a stable occupancy rate 

across the entire portfolio of 92.5%. Due to the economic 

situation and the published economic forecasts, a severe 

realisation risk remains in the current year as well. This particularly 

concerns the Serdika Offices building in Sofia. In both shopping 

centres in Southeastern Europe, we continue to be confronted 

by an above-average number of tenant defaults. 

Development risks
Development risks were substantially reduced with the comple-

tion of the development projects in the financial year 2010. New 

development projects are not planned for the current year. In the 

medium term, we are concentrating on the Quartier Belvedere 

Central project – part of one of the biggest urban development 

projects in Europe, at the new Central Station in Vienna. In this 

project, the development of the individual building components 

is planned in several phases. The building work and the related 

significant use of capital for the existing development land in 

Central and Southeastern Europe will begin as soon as local 

market conditions allow. 

Property valuation risk
Property valuation risk is the risk of negative value fluctuations of 

the property portfolio, which can result from changes in the 

macroeconomic environment and real estate factors. These 

changes in the market value can then have a negative effect not 

only on profits but also on the Group’s equity and thus also its 

creditworthiness.

Financial risks
For S IMMO Group, the management of financial risks is 

principally related to the effects of liquidity risks, interest rate  

risk, financing risks and currency risks.

Liquidity risks
To secure liquidity, the Group’s cash flows are managed, tested 

for plausibility and continuously adapted by Finance in 

coordination with Project Development and Asset Management 

on the basis of ongoing financial projections. However, due to  

tightened equity regulations for banks and the euro crisis, 

difficulties may arise in terms of refinancing. Despite its mainly 

long-term loan agreements, S IMMO may be affected in particu-

lar when it comes to loan extensions (see also financing risks). 
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Interest rate risk
Risks can arise in debt financing as a result of interest rate 

changes. However, it is currently expected that the European 

Central Bank will leave the base lending rate largely unchanged 

for the time being. Nevertheless, the possibility of banks raising 

their margins due to the strained situation cannot be excluded. 

S IMMO reduces the interest rate risk in the long term by hedging 

interest payments on its variable-rate loans. As of 31 December 

2011, 8% of loan liabilities had fixed rates and 92% of loan 

liabilities had variable rates (mostly based on the three-month 

Euribor). To hedge variable-rate loans, S IMMO uses derivative 

financial instruments (swaps, caps and collars) and reached a 

hedge ratio of 95% as of the end of the year. The stress tests 

(see pages 67 – 68 for details) show that S IMMO Group is 

exposed to approximately one-third of potential interest rate 

changes. This means that despite hedging through derivative 

financial instruments, the Group would be exposed to higher 

financing costs in the case of rises in interest rates. 

Financing risks
The strained situation of the banking sector could lead to a 

restrictive lending policy on the part of banks and thus make 

refinancing difficult. S IMMO Group reduces these financing 

risks by spreading its borrowing across a variety of lenders (at 

the balance sheet date: 26 individual banks) and through long-

term external financing, whereby loans must be approved by the 

Management Board or the Supervisory Board based on a 

system in which loans are graded according to amount. As of 

31 December 2011, the non-current liabilities to banks had an 

average weighted residual maturity of more than 10.1 years. This 

long-term orientation is customary practice in the sector. 

Compliance with the contractual conditions is continuously 

monitored by S IMMO Group in close contact with the lending 

financial institutions. However, in the current economic environ-

ment, there is a rising risk of covenant violations (clauses in loan 

agreements that are based, for example, on the loan to value 

ratio). The Group ensures that a balanced relationship is 

maintained between the amounts of loans and the market values 

of the individual properties (loan to value ratio). During the year, 

the Group-wide loan to value ratio was 61%. The mid-term aim 

is to reduce the loan to value ratio to below 55% and thus to 

lower the cash flow burden on the financing side. Despite precise 

monitoring of the financing instruments and of relevant para

meters, in case of a correspondingly negative development of 

the financing environment, the possibility of S IMMO being 

confronted with considerable risks in the area of refinancing 

cannot be excluded. 

Foreign exchange risk
Almost all of S IMMO Group’s borrowings are denominated in 

euro and almost all the rental agreements are linked to the euro. 

For this reason, direct cash foreign exchange risk is minimal. 

However, in the balance sheet, short-term non-cash foreign 

currency effects are also important. In the financial year 2011, 

these effects resulted in an income of EUR 7.3m, which is shown 

in S  IMMO Group’s financial results. The indirect, mid-term 

foreign exchange risk through changes in value in certain 

affected markets cannot be excluded. 

Other risks 

Risk of amendments to tax legislation
As an internationally operating real estate investment group, 

S  IMMO Group is confronted with a large number of different 

local tax systems. Changes to local (property-related) general 

tax conditions can occur, for example. S IMMO tries to recognise 

possible consequences early on through cooperation with local 

experts and take them into account when making decisions.

Risk to the environment
Risks to the environment can arise both in connection with 

standing properties and with development projects. For example, 

amended laws can make the removal or exchange of materials 

necessary. The removal of dangerous substances on a piece of 

development land can likewise be required. This, in turn, can 

lead to additional costs. S IMMO guards against such risks  

by carrying out precise analyses of property locations and, if 

necessary, obtaining guarantees when acquisitions and 

investments are made. Further, S IMMO acts in a responsible 

manner by enforcing the highest standards in terms of  

materials and construction methods for its existing buildings  

and development projects.
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Legal risk
Due to its business activities, S IMMO is exposed to a large 

number of legal risks. These can result, for example, from legal 

disputes with tenants or project partners or from the acquisition 

of property or property disposals. Especially in Germany, legal 

disputes whose outcome is uncertain are open. However, these 

have no significant influence on the Company and are covered 

by corresponding accounting measures. 

Overall statement on the  
risk situation

In summary, it can be said that the financial year 2012 will be 

marked by an economic environment that remains difficult as 

well as volatile capital markets and the euro crisis. These factors 

will also affect S IMMO Group, particularly in terms of letting 

risks, property valuation risk, tenant default risk, liquidity risks, 

financing risks, interest rate risk and capital market risks. In 

addition, there are risks resulting from the individual properties. 

With targeted risk management, S IMMO tackles these risks and 

tries to implement measures to minimise possible negative 

effects on the financial position and the operational business 

activities of the Group. The potential risks are additionally 

counteracted through a targeted diversification according to 

countries and property use types as well as through careful 

monitoring of relevant parameters for each property. The most 

important risk factors result from the worsening solvency of 

customers and business partners, possible interest rate rises, 

worsening micro- and macroeconomic conditions in the markets 

in which S IMMO is active as well as possible refinancing 

problems resulting from the increased requirements for banks.

Outlook

Significant events after  
balance sheet date 

The demand for German residential real estate properties 

continues to be strong. S IMMO took advantage of these sales 

opportunities and sold six residential buildings in Berlin and one 

office building in Munich in the first quarter of 2012.

Furthermore, in the first quarter of 2012, a further 128,198 shares 

were repurchased in the amount of EUR 554,000. The repur-

chase programme for S IMMO INVEST participating certificates 

resolved in the previous year will continue until 20 June 2012 at 

the latest. At the time of going to press no further participating 

certificates were repurchased.

Expected developments in the business 
environment 

Overall, 2011 was a difficult year, and in 2012 the global 

economy’s recovery will continue to be influenced in particular 

by uncertainties regarding future developments in the eurozone. 

Provided the euro crisis does not escalate further, the Inter

national Monetary Fund predicts a growth rate of approximately 

3.3% for the world economy as a whole. For the eurozone, the 

forecasts are for a mild recession. According to the EBRD, the 

region’s economy performance will shrink by approximately 

0.3%. A moderate amount of growth is predicted for 2013 again. 

A slowdown of economic growth is also expected for Central 

and Southeastern Europe, but the decline is unlikely to be as 

dramatic as in the previous crisis. 
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In the real estate market, we expect demand in Germany to 

remain high, in particular in the residential sector. In Austria, we 

expect vacancy rates to rise for office properties, while demand 

for residential properties in top locations will continue to be high. 

The real estate market in Central Europe should slowly gather 

momentum again. This recovery will be fuelled by growth in 

demand for modern office space. The market in Hungary is 

somewhat more difficult. In spite of this, the total vacancy rate for 

office space has dropped below 20% for the first time in two 

years, because hardly any new projects have been added to the 

market. The property market in Southeastern Europe remains 

challenging, but in Bulgaria and Romania a drop in vacancy 

rates for high-end office space can be expected. We are 

anticipating another difficult year for retailers, particularly in 

Bulgaria, because of the decline in economic growth. More 

information on the property markets is given on pages 5 − 10  

of this report. 

Expected Business developments 

After reporting an operating success for 2011, S IMMO Group is 

exceptionally well positioned to meet the challenges of the 

current and coming years. From today’s perspective, we expect 

2012 to be equally satisfactory for the Group. Irrespective of 

developments in individual markets, many factors contribute  

to S IMMO’s solid operating performance: 

Our high-quality property portfolio is diversified by region – 

around 60% of standing properties are in Western Europe and 

roughly 40% in Central and Southeastern Europe – and by 

property use type. This makes it possible to take advantage of 

the opportunities presented by different regions and real estate 

cycles. 

In Germany, the revitalisation programme will largely be 

completed by the end of the year. This revitalisation consists 

both of investment in structural work, such as the renewal of 

facades and stairways, and also of direct investments in 

improving individual apartments. These measures are a major 

factor in reducing vacancy rates, increasing rental income and 

further enhancing the properties’ values. In 2012, we shall 

continue to take advantage of opportunities for profitable 

disposals − the plan is to realise approximately 5% of our 

portfolio. 

Despite an, in part, very difficult market environment – in Hungary 

and Southeastern Europe in particular – we achieved a satisfac-

tory occupancy rate of 92.5% last year, with over 6,800 renowned 

tenants. Our letting activities will focus principally on the office 

buildings belonging to our shopping centres. Our Sun Offices 

building in Bucharest has already reached an occupancy rate of 

over 50%, with well-known international tenants such as 

PepsiCo, Uniqa and Siepcofar. Other negotiations are in 

progress, which means that we can expect a further improve-

ment in occupancy levels with considerable certainty. 

We measure our operating performance using various key 

accounting indicators, and our main objective in 2012 is to 

further improve them all. In the coming months, we will also 

focus on the ongoing improvement of the portfolio’s earnings 

performance. Moreover, in the current year we will reduce our 

administrative costs by a further 10% compared to 2010. In our 

finances, we intend to reduce our overall debt. With an average 

residual maturity of 10.1 years on our liabilities to banks, we are 

excellently positioned for the future. Our goal in this context is to 

bring our loan-to-value ratio down to under 55%. 

We will continue our repurchase programmes for shares and 

participating certificates until they come to their respective ends 

in the first half-year, with the aim of further increasing our 

attractiveness in the capital markets. Moreover, at the Annual 

General Meeting on 01 June 2012, the Management Board will 

propose to the shareholders a dividend distribution of EUR 0.10 

per share and it also plans to adjust the annual distribution of 

EUR 4.36 per certificate on the S IMMO INVEST participating 

certificates to bring it into line with current earnings. 
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Disclosure pursuant to section 243a Uniform Commercial Code (UGB)

The following information must be provided to satisfy section 

243a Uniform Commercial Code (UGB):

1.)	 The share capital totals EUR 247,509,361.86 and is divided 

into 68,118,718 bearer shares. All shares are of the same class.

2.)	 The voting rights of each shareholder at the Annual General 

Meeting are limited to 15% of the issued shares.

3.)	 On 24 September 2009, the Management Board received a 

notice pursuant to section 91 paragraph 1 Stock Exchange Act 

(BörseG) from Tri-Star Capital Ventures Ltd., an international 

investment firm, stating that this company had increased its 

holdings in Sparkassen Immobilien AG (henceforth S IMMO AG) 

to 11.15% of the share capital with voting rights. On 20 April 

2009, the Company was also informed by s Versicherung AG, a 

member company of Vienna Insurance Group, that its holdings 

in Sparkassen Immobilien AG (henceforth S IMMO AG) exceed-

ed the notice threshold of 10% pursuant to section 91 paragraph 

1 Stock Exchange Act and amount to 10.27%. Furthermore, the 

company announced the receipt of voting rights notifications 

pursuant to article 91 (1) Austrian Stock Exchange Act (BörseG) 

from Erste Asset Management GmbH. These voting rights noti-

fications disclose that RINGTURM Kapitalanlagegesellschaft 

m.b.H. and ERSTE-SPARINVEST Kapitalanlagegesellschaft 

m.b.H. are subsidiaries of Erste Asset Management GmbH, 

these three companies pursue a joint voting rights policy and 

therefore voting rights notifications of the fund assets are made 

cumulatively. The total voting interest exceeded the 10% 

threshold necessary to report on 29 November 2011 to reach an 

amount of 11.94%. 

4.)	 There are no shares with special control rights.

5.)	 Employees who hold shares directly exercise their voting 

rights at the Annual General Meeting.

6.)	 The Management Board of the Company consists of two, 

three or four members. Persons must be younger than 64 years 

of age to be appointed to the Management Board. The Super

visory Board consists of up to ten members to be elected by  

the Annual General Meeting.

7.)	 a)  At the Annual General Meeting on 21 May 2010, the 

Management Board was again authorised to purchase shares in 

the Company up to a total amount of 10% of the share capital of 

the Company in accordance with the provisions of section 65 

paragraph 1 line 8 Austrian Companies Act (AktG) for a period 

of thirty months from the date on which the motion was adopted. 

The Management Board was authorised, subject to the  

approval of the Supervisory Board and for a period of five years 

after the adoption of the motion, to sell these shares in the 

Company (treasury shares) in a manner other than through the 

stock exchange or through a public offer, including under 

exclusion of the right of certain parties to purchase the treasury 

shares, when the treasury shares are transferred as con

sideration for property or property interests sold to the Company 

or a subsidiary, when the treasury shares are awarded to share

holders of companies merged into the Company or a subsidiary, 

or when the treasury shares are transferred to satisfy the 

conversion or subscription rights of holders of shares in convert-

ible bonds or of profit participation certificates with conversion 

rights (S IMMO INVEST AT0000795737 and/or S IMMO INVEST 

AT0000630694).

b)	 At the Annual General Meeting on 28 May 2008, the 

Management Board was authorised pursuant to section 174 

paragraph 2 AktG, within a period of five years after the adoption 

of the motion, in other words until 28 May 2013, and subject to 

the approval of the Supervisory Board, to issue convertible 

bonds granting the right of conversion or subscription for up to 

34,059,359 bearer shares in the Company, being equivalent to 

up to EUR 123,754,680.93 of the share capital in the Company, 

in one or more tranches and with the authority to specify the 

further terms of the convertible bonds.
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c)	 The share capital is conditionally increased pursuant to 

section 159 paragraph 2 line 1 Austrian Companies Act (AktG) 

to a maximum of EUR 123,754,680.93 through the issue of up to 

34,059,359 bearer shares with voting rights (conditional capital). 

This conditional capital increase shall only be completed to the 

extent that holders of convertible bonds issued under the 

authorisation granted by the motion of the Annual General 

Meeting on 28 May 2008 exercise their right of conversion or 

subscription. The issue price and the conversion ratio shall be 

determined on the basis of recognised mathematical methods 

and the share price of shares in the Company using a recog-

nised price calculation method. The issue price may not be 

lower than the portion of the share capital represented by the 

share. The Management Board is authorised, subject to the 

approval of the Supervisory Board, to specify the further terms of 

the conditional capital increase (in particular the issue price, the 

object of a contribution in kind, the scope of the rights granted 

by the shares, and the time at which dividend entitlements come 

into force). The Supervisory Board is authorised to adopt 

changes to the articles of incorporation as required by the issue 

of shares on the basis of the conditional capital or due to the 

expiration or utilisation of conditional capital.

8.)	 No significant agreements have been made in which the 

Company is involved and under which control of the Company 

will change hands, be modified or cease as a result of a take

over offer.

9.)	 No compensation agreements are in force between the 

Company and the members of its Management Board or Super-

visory Board or its employees that would come to bear in the 

event of a public takeover offer.
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Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2011  

Assets 

EUR ’000 
Notes 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 

Non-current assets 

Properties held as financial investments    

	 Investment properties 3.1.1. 1,716,899 1,810,322

	 Investment properties and undeveloped land 3.1.1. 55,480 55,989

1,772,379 1,866,311

Owner-operated properties 3.1.2 134,321 140,755

Other plant and equipment 3.1.2 7,472 9,069

Intangible assets 3.1.2 165 179

Goodwill 3.1.3 10 100

Interests in associated companies  5 5

Group interests  8,991 3,117

Deferred tax assets 3.1.12 33,532 28,455

1,956,875 2,047,991

Current assets      

Properties held for disposal 3.1.4 62,800 6,000

Inventories 3.1.5 7,097 12,029

Trade receivables 3.1.6 9,943 10,324

Other accounts receivable 3.1.6 15,987 42,287

Other assets  7,416 7,811

Cash and cash equivalents 3.1.7 115,260 129,721

218,503 208,172

2,175,378 2,256,163
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Equity and liabilities    

EUR ’000 
Notes 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 

Shareholders’ equity 3.1.8     

Share capital  246,341 247,509

Capital reserves  73,416 73,578

Other reserves  154,285 160,185

474,042 481,272

Non-controlling interests 3.1.9 29,088 31,426

503,130 512,698

Non-current liabilities    

Subordinated participating certificate capital 3.1.10 230,797 257,820

Financial liabilities 5.2.2 1,103,371 1,228,786

Provisions 3.1.11 7,892 8,770

Other liabilities  9,717 10,955

Deferred tax liabilities 3.1.12 62,600 55,981

1,414,377 1,562,312

Current liabilities   

Financial liabilities 5.2.2 208,888 124,123

Trade payables  9,900 16,479

Other liabilities  39,083 40,551

257,871 181,153

2,175,378 2,256,163
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Consolidated income statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2011

EUR ’000 Notes 2011 2010

Revenues 3.2.1   

	 Rental income  125,943 103,992

	 Revenues from service charges  41,257 32,640

	 Revenues from hotel operations  40,612 38,311

207,812 174,943

Other operating income 7,737 4,973

Expenses directly attributable to properties 3.2.2 -76,982 -70,095

Hotel operating expenses 3.2.2 -31,576 -29,617

Gross profit 106,991 80,204

Income from property disposals  46,500 102,690

Carrying value of property disposals  -34,916 -92,811

Gains on property disposals 3.2.3 11,584 9,879

Management expenses 3.2.4 -17,169 -18,650

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and  
amortisation (EBITDA) 101,406 71,433

Depreciation and amortisation 3.2.5 -9,266 -10,054

Gains/losses on property valuation 3.2.6 146 -833

Operating result (EBIT) 92,286 60,546

Financing costs 3.2.7 -51,458 -41,201

Participating certificates result 3.1.10 -11,185 -10,222

Net income before tax (EBT) 29,643 9,123

Taxes on income 3.1.12 -8,398 -6,989

Consolidated net income 21,245 2,134

of which attributable to shareholders in parent company  20,034 1,843

of which attributable to non-controlling interests  1,211 291

Earnings per share     

	 Undiluted = diluted 3.2.8. 0.29 0.03
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Consolidated statement of  
total comprehensive income  
for the year ended 31 December 2011

EUR ’000  2011 2010

Consolidated net income 21,245 2,134

Change in value of cash flow hedges  -24,224 1,235

Income tax related to other comprehensive income  5,049 149

Foreign exchange rate differences  -8,758 288

Total comprehensive income -6,688 3,806

	 of which attributable to shareholders in parent company  -5,900 2,269

	 of which attributable to non-controlling interests  -788 1,537
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Consolidated cash flow statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 

EUR ’000 2011 20101)

Net income before tax (EBT) 29,643 9,123

Gains/losses on property valuation -146 833

Depreciation and amortisation 9,266 10,054

Gains/losses on property disposals -11,584 -9,879

Cash flow from sale of inventories 7,714 14,999

Taxes on income paid -1,546 -2,358

Participating certificates result 11,185 10,222

Net interest 51,458 41,201

Operating cash flow 95,990 74,195

Changes in net current assets   

Receivables and other assets 20,102 6,689

Provisions and other non-current liabilities -2,162 -16,217

Current liabilities -8,047 -26,138

Cash flow from operating activities 105,883 38,529

Cash flow from investing activities   

Investments in property portfolio -30,876 -100,020

Investments in tangible and intangible assets -1,226 -2,069

Net cash flow from initial consolidations 0 -6,263

Disposals of/investments in financial investments -3,895 0

Disposals of properties and property holding companies 38,786 70,256

Interest received and other financial income 1,736 1,590

Cash flow from investing activities 4,525 -36,506
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EUR ’000 2011 20101)

Consolidated cash flow statement (cont.)

Cash flow from financing activities    

Purchase of own participating certificates -23,684 0

Purchase of own shares -1,330 0

Cash flows from increases/decreases in non-controlling interests -1,550 -14,943

Increases/decreases in financing -28,348 -10,197

Distribution to S IMMO INVEST participating certificates -13,869 -14,060

Interest paid -56,088 -45,240

Cash flow from financing activities -124,869 -84,440

Cash and cash equivalents at 01 January 129,721 210,151

Cash inflow from initial consolidation 0 1,987

Net change in cash and cash equivalents -14,461 -82,417

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2) 115,260 129,721

1)	Adjusted 
2)	�The effects of exchange translation differences on cash and cash equivalents are not material and are therefore not disclosed separately. 
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Changes in consolidated equity  

EUR ’000 
Share 

capital 
Capital 

reserves 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserves 

Hedge 
accounting 

reserves 
Other 

reserves 

Sub-total 
S IMMO 

shareholders 

 Non-
controlling 

interests Total 

At 01 January 2011 247,509 73,578 -13,398 -38,335 211,918 481,272 31,426 512,698

Consolidated net 
income 0 0 0 0 20,034 20,034 1,211 21,245

Other comprehensive 
income 0 0 -8,642 -17,292 0 -25,934 -1,999 -27,933

Repurchase of  
own shares -1,168 -162 0 0 0 -1,330 0 -1,330

Decrease 0 0 0 0 0 0 -1,550 -1,550

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

At 31 December 2011 246,341 73,416 -22,040 -55,627 231,952 474,042 29,088 503,130

At 01 January 2010 247,509 147,110 -13,491 -38,668 136,543 479,003 44,832 523,835

Consolidated net 
income 0 0 0 0 1,843 1,843 291 2,134

Other comprehensive 
income 0 0 93 333 0 426 1,246 1,671

Repurchase of own 
shares 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  0

Decrease 0 0 0 0 0 0 -14,943 -14,943

Reclassifications 0 -73,532 0 0 73,532 0 0 0

At 31 December 2010 247,509 73,578 -13,398 -38,335 211,918 481,272 31,426 512,698
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Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2011  

1.	T he Group 

S IMMO Group (S IMMO AG and its subsidiaries) is an inter

national real estate group. The parent company of the Group, 

S IMMO AG, has its registered office and headquarters at 

Friedrichstrasse 10, 1010 Vienna, Austria. The Company has 

been listed on the Vienna Stock Exchange since 1992, since 

2007 in the Prime Segment. It has subsidiaries in Austria, 

Germany, the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Hungary, Croatia, 

Romania, Bulgaria, Denmark and Cyprus. At 31 December 

2011, S IMMO Group owned properties in all the above coun-

tries except Denmark and Cyprus. The Company’s principal 

business is the acquisition, letting and sale of properties in 

different regions and market segments in order to achieve a 

balanced investment portfolio. Another business activity is the 

development and construction of properties in cooperation with 

project development partners. 

2.	�Acc ounting and valuation policies 

2.1.	Accounting policies 
The consolidated financial statements comply with all 

International Financial Reporting Standards, including the 

interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Inter

pretations Committee (“IFRIC”, formerly “SIC”), the application 

of which was mandatory in the European Union at the balance 

sheet date. 

The accounting policies of all consolidated companies are 

based on the uniform accounting regulations of S IMMO Group. 

The financial year for all companies is the year ending on  

31 December. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented rounded  

to the nearest 1,000 euro (EUR ’000). The totals of rounded 

amounts and the percentages may be affected by rounding 

differences caused by the use of computer software. 

.

2.2.	�Consolidation group and basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include all the companies 

(subsidiaries) over which the parent company has a controlling 

influence. A controlling interest exists where the parent company 

is in a position directly or indirectly to determine the financial and 

business policies of the subsidiary and to benefit from its 

activities. A subsidiary is consolidated from the time when the 

controlling influence is acquired, and deconsolidated when that 

influence ceases to exist. 

Companies over which the parent company directly or indirectly 

exercises a significant influence are included at equity. A signifi-

cant influence is assumed to exist where S IMMO AG holds 

between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. 

The acquisition method is applied for initial consolidation, which 

means that the identifiable assets (mainly properties) and 

liabilities of the companies acquired, and the minority interests in 

them, are recognised at fair value. 

As a general rule, S IMMO Group recognises minority interests 

as the proportionate share of identifiable net assets of the 

subsidiary. Goodwill is measured as the difference between the 

aggregate of the fair value of the consideration given together 

with the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and the 

fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities (net assets) of 

the company acquired. The amount in excess of net assets is 

recognised as goodwill. If the amount is negative, and remains 

negative even after a further critical review of the recognition  

and measurement of the assets and liabilities acquired, it is 

recognised in profit or loss. 
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Company Location Country 
Nominal 

capital (%) Currency 
Consoli
dation type 

CEE Immobilien GmbH Vienna A 35,000 100 EUR full

CEE PROPERTY-INVEST Immobilien GmbH Vienna A 48,000,000 100 EUR full

CEE CZ Immobilien GmbH Vienna A 35,000 100 EUR full

German Property Invest Immobilien GmbH Vienna A 35,000 100 EUR full

Hotel DUNA Beteiligungs Gesellschaft m.b.H. Vienna A 145,346 100 EUR full

AKIM Beteiligungen GmbH Vienna A 35,000 100 EUR full

SO Immobilienbeteiligungs GmbH Vienna A 35,000 100 EUR full

CEE Beteiligungen GmbH Vienna A 35,000 100 EUR full

E.V.I. Immobilienbeteiligungs GmbH Vienna A 35,000 100 EUR full

SIAG Berlin Wohnimmobilien GmbH Vienna A 3,982,500 99.74 EUR full

E.I.A. eins Immobilieninvestitionsgesellschaft m.b.H. Vienna A 36,336 100 EUR full

PCC-Hotelerrichtungs- und Betriebsgesellschaft m.b.H. 
& Co. KG Vienna A 8,299,237 70 EUR full

PCC-Hotelerrichtungs- und Betriebsgesellschaft m.b.H. Vienna A 36,336 100 EUR full

Neutorgasse 2 – 8 Projektverwertungs GmbH Vienna A 35,000 100 EUR full

H.S.E. Immobilienbeteiligungs GmbH Vienna A 35,000 100 EUR full

A.D.I. Immobilien Beteiligungs GmbH Vienna A 35,000 100 EUR full

ISP Immobilienentwicklungs- und Verwertungsgesell-
schaft m.b.H. Vienna A 35,000 25 EUR equity

BGM-IMMORENT Aktiengesellschaft & Co KG Vienna A 4,360,370 20.3 EUR equity

VIERTEL ZWEI Hoch GmbH & Co KG Vienna A 100,000 100 EUR full

VIERTEL ZWEI Plus GmbH & Co KG Vienna A 100,000 100 EUR full

VIERTEL ZWEI Hotel GmbH & Co KG Vienna A 100,000 100 EUR full

S IMMO Property Invest GmbH Vienna A 35,000 100 EUR full

Hansa Immobilien EOOD Sofia BG 10,175 77 BGN full

The acquisition date is the date on which control of the new 

acquisition is acquired. Costs incurred by S IMMO Group in the 

course of acquisition, such as fees for due diligence reviews, 

valuations and other consulting services are recognised as 

expenses of the period in which they are incurred. 

For associated companies included at equity, differences on 

capital consolidation are calculated in the same way as for 

consolidated companies. The proportionate share of the profit 

or loss for the year is included in the carrying value of the  

holding. In the event of distributions, the carrying value is 

reduced by the proportionate amount. 

In addition to the accounts of S IMMO AG, the consolidated 

financial statements include the accounts of 70 companies 

(property holding and intermediary holding companies), which 

are directly or indirectly owned by S IMMO AG, and three 

companies included at equity. 

In the fourth quarter, Immin Beteiligungen GmbH was merged 

into CEE PROPERTY-INVEST Immobilien GmbH. 
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Company Location Country 
Nominal 

capital (%) Currency 
Consoli
dation type 

CEE PROPERTY BULGARIA EOOD Sofia BG 20,000 100 BGN full

Washington Project EOOD Sofia BG 20,000 50 BGN equity

SIAG HOLDING LIMITED Nicosia CY 3,000 100 EUR full

Areal CZ spol. s.r.o. Prague CZ 100,000 100 CZK full

Eltima Property Company s.r.o. Prague CZ 100,000 100 CZK full

REGA Property Invest s.r.o. Prague CZ 200,000 100 CZK full

Tolleson a.s. Prague CZ 200,000 100 CZK full

SIAG Burstah Immobilien GmbH Berlin D 25,000 100 EUR full

Lützow-Center GmbH Berlin D 25,000 100 EUR full

Ikaruspark GmbH Berlin D 25,000 100 EUR full

S IMMO Germany GmbH Berlin D 25,000 100 EUR full

S Immo Geschäftsimmobilien GmbH Berlin D 25,000 100 EUR full

S Immo Wohnimmobilien GmbH Berlin D 25,000 100 EUR full

Markt Carree Halle Immobilien GmbH Berlin D 25,000 100 EUR full

Tölz Immobilien GmbH Berlin D 25,000 100 EUR full

Einkaufs-Center Sofia G.m.b.H. & Co KG Hamburg D 87,000,000 65 EUR full

SIAG Deutschland Beteiligungs-Verwaltungs GmbH Berlin D 25,000 100 EUR full

SIAG Deutschland Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG Berlin D 100,000 99.74 EUR full

SIAG Leipzig Wohnimmobilien GmbH Berlin D 750,000 99.74 EUR full

Maior Domus Hausverwaltung GmbH Berlin D 25,000 100 EUR full

SIAG Property I GmbH Berlin D 25,000 100 EUR full

K.J. Ejendomme Syd APS Århus DK 134,000 100 EUR full

H.W.I. I APS Århus DK 939,000 100 EUR full

H.W.I. III APS Århus DK 4,023,000 100 EUR full

H.W.I. IV APS Århus DK 134,000 100 EUR full

GERMAN PROPERTY INVESTMENT I APS (GPI I APS) Århus DK 17,000 99.71 EUR full

GERMAN PROPERTY INVESTMENT II APS (GPI II APS) Århus DK 60,000 99.71 EUR full

GERMAN PROPERTY INVESTMENT III APS (GPI III APS) Århus DK 17,000 99.71 EUR full

Bank-garázs Ingatlanfejlesztési és Vagyonhasznosító Kft. Budapest H 500,000 100 HUF full

CEE Property-Invest Ingatlan Kft. Budapest H 100,000,000 100 HUF full

Maros utca Épitési és Ingatlanhasznositási Kft. Budapest H 500,000 100 HUF full

Buda Kereskedelmi Központ Kft. Budapest H 3,000,000 100 HUF full

Duna Szálloda Zrt. Budapest H 5,000,000 100 HUF full

S IMMO Hungary Kft Budapest H 98,600,000 100 HUF full

Szegedi út Ingatlankezelö Kft. Budapest H 500,000 100 HUF full

Nagymezö utcai Projektfejlesztesi Kft. Budapest H 462,590,000 100 HUF full

CEE Property-Invest Hungary 2003 Ingatlan Kft. Budapest H 3,000,000 100 HUF full

CEE PROPERTY INVEST ROMANIA SRL Bucharest RO 1,000 100 RON full

Societate Dezvoltare Comercial Sudului (SDCS) S.R.L. Bucharest RO 245,674,000 100 RON full

VICTORIEI BUSINESS PLAZZA S.R.L. Bucharest RO 18,852,144 100 RON full
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Company Location Country 
Nominal 

capital (%) Currency 
Consoli
dation type 

DUAL Construct Invest S.R.L. Bucharest RO 2,000 82 RON full

ROTER INVESTITII IMOBILIARE S.R.L. Bucharest RO 4,472,020 100 RON full

Galvaniho Business Centrum s.r.o. Bratislava SK 7,000 100 EUR full

Galvaniho 2 s.r.o. Bratislava SK 7,000 100 EUR full

IPD - International Property Development s.r.o. Bratislava SK 33,000 100 EUR full

SIAG Fachmarktzentren s.r.o. Bratislava SK 7,000 100 EUR full

SIAG Hotel Bratislava s.r.o. Bratislava SK 7,000 100 EUR full

Galvaniho 4 s.r.o. Bratislava SK 33,000 100 EUR full

Eurocenter d.o.o. Zagreb HR 20,000 100 HRK full

2.3.		 Business combinations 
In the fourth quarter of 2011, S IMMO Property Invest GmbH was included in consolidation for the first time.

The following companies were acquired in 2010: 

Company Location Country
Interest  
(%)

Purchase price 
EUR ’000

Initial  
consolidation date 

VIERTEL ZWEI Hoch GmbH & Co KG Vienna A 100 9,263 07 December 2010

VIERTEL ZWEI Plus GmbH & Co KG Vienna A 100 8,967 07 December 2010

VIERTEL ZWEI Hotel GmbH & Co KG Vienna A 100 266 07 December 2010
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At date of initial consolidation in 2010, the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired was made up as follows: 

Purchases

EUR ’000 
VIERTEL ZWEI Hoch 

GmbH & Co KG
VIERTEL ZWEI Plus 

GmbH & Co KG
VIERTEL ZWEI Hotel 

GmbH & Co KG Total

Assets 163,406 34,371 197,777

Equity and liabilities -137,260 -36,401 -173,661

Net balance   26,146 -2,030 24,116

Purchase price of shares   18,230 266 18,496

Goodwill    -7,916 2,296 -5,620

2.4.		 Reporting currency and currency translation
The Group reporting currency is the euro. The functional 

currencies of Group companies are determined by the business 

environment in which they operate: in the case of S IMMO Group 

companies, the functional currencies are the respective national 

currencies. Functional currencies are translated into the  

reporting currency in accordance with IAS 21, as follows: 

(a)	� Assets and liabilities at closing rates 

(b)	 Income and expenses at the average rate for the period 

(c)	� All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the 

foreign currency translation reserve under equity. 

Foreign currencies have been translated using the following 

exchange rates: 

Czech Republic 
CZK

Hungary 
HUF 

Bulgaria 
BGN 

Romania 
RON 

Croatia  
HRK 

Closing rate 31 December 2011 25.787 314.580 1.956 4.323 7.537

Average rate 2011 24.635 280.460 1.956 4.242 7.444

Closing rate 31 December 2010 25.061 277.950 1.956 4.262 7.383

Average rate 2010 25.356 276.039 1.956 4.218 7.295
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2.5.		N ewly applicable accounting regulations    

2.5.1.	N ew Standards and Interpretations 
The following amendments or revised versions of Standards and 

Interpretations became applicable for the first time in the finan-

cial year 2011, but had no material effects on the consolidated 

financial statements. 

	 Revised version of IAS 24 – Related Party Disclosures: the 

aim of the changes is to simplify disclosure requirements for 

government-related entities and to clarify the definition of a 

related party. 

	 Revised version of IAS 32 – Financial instruments: Presenta-

tion – Classification of Rights Issues: the amendment makes it 

clear that rights are still to be classified as equity where the 

exercise price of the rights is defined in a currency other than the 

functional currency of the issuer, provided the rights are issued 

pro rata to existing shareholders for a fixed price. 

	 Improvements to IFRS (published in May 2010): this is  

the third of the annually appearing improvements standards.  

It contains eleven amendments, to six Standards and one Inter-

pretation, namely IFRS 1, 3 and 7; IAS 1, 27 and 34; and  

IFRIC 13. 

	 Amendment to IFRIC 14, Prepayments in relation to Minimum 

Funding Requirements: the amendment applies under special 

circumstances, when an entity subject to a minimum funding 

requirement makes a prepayment of contributions satisfying 

certain conditions. Under the amendment an entity is now 

permitted to treat the benefits accruing from such a prepayment 

as an asset. 

	 IFRIC 19, Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity 

Instruments: this interpretation clarifies the requirements under 

IFRS when an entity renegotiates the terms of a financial liability 

with the creditor, and the creditor in the process accepts shares 

or other equity instruments of the entity in full or partial satisfac-

tion of the financial liability. 

2.5.2	N ew Standards not yet mandatorily applicable 
The following amendments or revised versions of Standards and 

Interpretations had at balance sheet date already been adopted 

by the European Union but were not mandatorily or otherwise 

applicable for the financial year 2011. 

	 Amendments to IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures 

(applicable for financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2011): 

the amended Standard requires additional disclosures for trans-

ferred financial assets that are not derecognised in their entirety, 

or that are entirely derecognised, but with respect to which 

certain risks remain with the transferring entity. 

At the balance sheet date, the following additional Standards 

and Interpretations had been issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB), but had not yet been 

adopted by the European Union and were therefore not 

applicable. 

	 IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, (effective date per IASB: 

1 January 2015) 

	 IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and IAS 27, 

Separate Financial Statements, (effective date per IASB:  

1 January 2013) 

	 IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, and IAS 28, Investments  

in Associates and Joint Ventures, (effective date per IASB:  

1 January 2013) 

	 IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (effective 

date per IASB: 1.January 2013) 

	 IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement (effective date per IASB: 

1 January 2013) 

	 Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements 

– Disclosure of Items Presented in Other Comprehensive Income, 

(effective date per IASB: 1 July 2012) 

	 Amendments to IAS 12, Taxes on Income – Deferred  

Taxes: Recovery of Underlying Assets, (effective date per IASB:  

1 January 2012) 
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	 Amendments to IAS 19, Employee Benefits, (effective date 

per IASB: 1 January 2013) 

	 Amendments to IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, 

and amendments to IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, 

concerning the offsetting of financial assets and financial liabili-

ties (effective date per IASB: 1 January 2013 and 1 January 2014 

respectively) 

	 IFRIC 20, Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a 

Surface Mine, (effective date per IASB: 1 January 2013) 

The date of coming into force under the relevant EU Regulation 

may differ from the date of coming into force as determined by 

the IASB. There is no voluntary early application of the above 

revisions and interpretations. Management is currently analysing 

the possible consequences of the revised Standards and 

Interpretations in the applicable years of initial application. 

 

2.6.		C hanges in accounting and valuation policies 
There has been a change in the method of calculating cash flow 

as compared with that used for the financial year 2010. In the 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decem-

ber 2011 the cash flow from the sale of inventories has been 

included in the operating cash flow rather than as changes in 

working capital. The comparative figures for the year ended 

31 December 2010 have been adjusted accordingly. In financial 

2011, there were no other changes in accounting and valuation 

policies or in the presentation of the financial statements. 

2.7.		 Accounting and valuation policies 

2.7.1.	 Properties held as financial investments 
Properties held as financial investments are measured using the 

fair value model, under the option available in IAS 40. Properties 

held as financial investments are properties leased or rented out 

for the purpose of generating income or held for capital 

appreciation, together with undeveloped land. Properties 

acquired or being developed for disposal and properties used 

by the Group are not within the scope of IAS 40. 

The application of the fair value model means that investment 

properties and undeveloped land are measured at fair value at 

the balance sheet date. The resulting changes in carrying values 

before revaluation are recognised as a profit or loss under 

revaluations. 

Properties are recognised as assets of the company in question, 

in the relevant functional currency. 

The diversity of the properties to which the fair value model is 

applied necessitates a careful choice of appropriate valuation 

models and different parameters for each individual property, so 

that factors such as location, use type, market environment, 

building quality etc., are taken into account. The valuations 

generally use the earnings value method or the discounted  

cash flow method. 

2.7.2.	�O wner-operated properties, other plant  
and equipment 

Owner-operated properties consist mainly of hotels operated by 

S IMMO Group. The business of these hotels includes the rental 

of rooms and catering activities. These hotels are for the most 

part operated under management agreements, and consequently 

the risks associated with occupancy rates are in part borne by 

S IMMO Group. Hotels of this kind are outside the scope of 

IAS 40 (properties held as financial investments) and are there-

fore to be treated as tangible non-current assets under IAS 16. 

Under IAS 16, owner-operated properties (including owner-

managed hotels) and other non-current tangible assets are 

valued at cost of acquisition. The properties are recognised  

on initial capitalisation at costs of acquisition or construction  

and in subsequent years written down to reflect scheduled 

depreciation and any impairment losses. 
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Where construction finance can be directly associated with 

these properties, the borrowing costs of qualifying properties 

during the period of construction are capitalised as part of 

acquisition and construction cost. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 

expected useful lives of the assets, as follows: 

Expected useful lives (years)

from to

Owner-operated hotels 25 33

Other plant and equipment 3 10

2.7.3.	 Goodwill 
The goodwill disclosed in the balance sheet is the result of 

applying the acquisition method in accounting for the acquisi-

tion of companies. In accordance with IAS 36, the value of 

goodwill is based on the value of the company at the time of 

acquisition less accumulated amortisation. For interests in 

associated companies, goodwill is included in the carrying 

amounts of the interests. 

2.7.4.	I ntangible assets 
Intangible assets for the purpose of IAS 38 are identifiable 

non-monetary assets without physical substance. To qualify for 

recognition, an intangible asset must be identifiable and be 

subject to control by the enterprise. There must be future 

economic benefits attributable to the intangible asset, and its 

acquisition or production costs must be capable of being 

measured reliably. 

Intangible assets with a limited useful life are subject to 

scheduled amortisation, calculated on the basis of the following 

useful lives: 

Expected useful lives (years)

from to

Software 3 6

As required under IAS 36, the carrying values are also reviewed 

for impairment. 

Intangible assets acquired for consideration are recognised at 

acquisition cost less scheduled straight-line amortisation and 

provision for any impairment losses. 

S IMMO Group has not capitalised any internally generated 

intangible assets. 

2.7.5.	P roperties held for disposal 
Property held for disposal is not considered to be investment 

property within the scope of IAS 40, if it is Management’s  

intention to dispose of the property in the near future and the 

negotiations for sale are already well-advanced. 

In accordance with IFRS 5, property held for disposal is as a 

general rule measured at the lower of carrying value and net 

realisable value. 

IFRS 5 provides for an exception with respect to the measure-

ment of properties held as financial investments: they are 

measured at market value. The special disclosure requirements 

under IFRS 5 are however applicable, so that properties held  

for disposal must be shown under current assets. 

It is intended to dispose of one property located in Vienna,  

one in Hamburg, one in Munich and seven in Berlin. The carrying 

value of these at 31 December 2011 amounted to 

EUR 62,800,000. 
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2.7.6.	F inancial instruments 

2.7.6.1.	 Primary financial instruments 
In accordance with IAS 39, S IMMO Group as a general rule 

classifies its financial instruments as follows:  

	� Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 

and loss 

	 Loans and receivables 

	 Financial assets held to maturity 

	 Available-for-sale financial assets 

	 Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

Classification is based on the purpose for which the individual 

instrument is acquired and takes place at the time of 

acquisition. 

S IMMO Group as a general rule classifies financial instruments 

into the following categories: 

	 Interests in associated companies 

	 Group interests 

	 Trade receivables 

	 Other accounts receivable 

	 Cash and cash equivalents 

	 Subordinated participating certificate capital 

	 Non-current financial liabilities 

	 Other non-current liabilities 

	 Current financial liabilities 

	 Trade payables 

	 Other current liabilities 

The category financial instruments and liabilities at fair value 

through profit and loss includes financial instruments held for 

trading purposes, financial instruments classified as such at the 

time of acquisition and all derivative financial instruments except 

those serving as hedges.   

The assets classified under loans and receivables are financial 

instruments with fixed or determinable payment flows not traded 

in an active market. They include in particular trade and other 

receivables. Where their remaining maturities are less than 

12 months they are disclosed under current assets, and other-

wise under non-current assets. 

Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments flows 

traded in an active market are disclosed under financial assets 

held to maturity. At balance sheet date, S IMMO Group held no 

such instruments. 

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise all financial assets 

not included in any other of the above categories or deliberately 

classified as available for sale. Such financial instruments are 

disclosed as non-current assets unless it is Management’s 

intention to dispose of them within the next 12 months. 

The category financial liabilities at amortised cost comprises 

trade and other financial liabilities. 

Additions to and disposals of financial instruments are 

recognised as of the applicable settlement dates. Financial 

assets in all categories are measured at fair value at the time of 

acquisition and – with the exception of those recognised at fair 

value through profit and loss – including transaction costs. 
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S IMMO Group’s fundamental risk management strategy is to 

hedge interest rate risk (i.e., the variability of the base rate) using 

offsetting hedges, in order to ensure fixed payment streams and 

to make property project forecasts more reliable. The purpose of 

cash flow hedging at S IMMO Group is to reduce the risk on 

existing variable rate loans, future reinvested funds and trans

actions expected to be very probable in the future (forecast 

transactions) by using offsetting derivatives. Cash flow hedging 

arrangements are used for this purpose. 

Hedged risk 

The interest rate risk hedged is a market interest rate, the Euribor, 

which is an identifiable component of the interest rate risk on 

interest-bearing financial liabilities that can be separately 

assessed. 

Hedging instruments 

S IMMO Group uses as hedging instruments only derivatives, 

that, because they move in the opposite direction to the under

lying transactions, convert the potential changes in cash flows, 

in particular from increases in interest rates into fixed payments 

streams. The hedging instruments used are interest rate deriva-

tives such as interest rate swaps, caps and collars. The effective 

part of the change in fair value of these derivatives is recognised 

not through profit and loss, but under other comprehensive 

income, the ineffective portion is recognised through profit and 

loss as part of the financing results. For the non-linear interest 

rate options used as hedges, only the inner value is designated 

as a hedge. The time value, as ineffective, is recognised in the 

income statement as part of financing costs. For the collars, 

care is taken to ensure that there is no net short position. 

The changes in the valuation of cash flow hedges recognised 

under equity are transferred to the income statement in the 

period in which the hedged underlying transaction affects profit 

and loss or when the requirements for recognition as a cash flow 

hedge are no longer met. 

Where no fair value for financial instruments can reliably be 

established, they are disclosed at acquisition costs net of any 

impairment. Other liabilities-side financial instruments are 

measured at amortised acquisition cost. 

The fair value of stock market listed financial instruments is their 

market price at the balance sheet date. For financial assets for 

which there is no active market, the fair value is calculated with 

the aid of valuation models. This can involve the derivation of fair 

value from current transactions in similar financial instruments or 

from present values of future payments streams (discounted 

cash flow models), or the use of mathematical models. 

2.7.6.2.	 Derivatives 
S IMMO Group uses derivative financial instruments – interest 

rate caps, collars and swaps – to reduce the risks attendant on 

interest rate increases. These are measured at fair value. The fair 

value measurement of derivatives is based on estimates made 

by banks. 

S IMMO Group’s objectives include the acquisition and develop-

ment of property for rental or subsequent sale with the aim of 

generating positive net cash flows. Business activities are 

financed out of equity, and also by long-term borrowings in the 

form of mortgage loans and other financial liabilities. The bulk of 

the external financing consists of variable rate borrowings, with 

interest rates linked to 3-month, 6-month or 12-month Euribor as 

base rate. In line with S IMMO Group’s risk strategy, agreed lines 

of credit that will be called down as construction of development 

projects progresses are fully hedged with derivatives from the 

time the agreements are signed. 
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In order to meet the requirements for recognition as a cash flow 

hedge, S IMMO Group documents the hedging relationship 

between the hedging instrument and the underlying transaction, 

and the underlying hedging strategy at the time of the derivative 

transaction. The effectiveness of the hedge is regularly assessed 

using both a priori and a posteriori tests. 

2.7.7.	I mpairment of assets 

2.7.7.1.	 Non-financial assets 
For properties used by the owner (at present these are mostly 

hotels) and for other tangible and intangible assets, where  

there is evidence of impairment the recoverable amount is 

ascertained, in accordance with IAS 36. The recoverable amount 

is the higher of the fair value less costs to sell (net realisable 

value) and the value in use. 

The fair value is the amount that would be obtained by the sale 

of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledge-

able, willing and independent parties. 

The value in use is the present value of the estimated future 

payment flows that can be expected from the continued use of 

an asset and its disposal at the end of its useful life. 

If the recoverable amount is less than the carrying value of the 

asset, there is an impairment writedown to the recoverable 

amount through profit and loss. 

In principle the recoverable amount should be calculated for 

each individual asset for which the value is to be measured. 

However, since payment flows cannot always be attributed to 

each asset directly, for the purpose of impairment tests assets 

are grouped into cash generating units (CGUs). The Group’s 

hotels are treated as individual CGUs. 

The impairment test for hotels is a two-stage process. The carry-

ing value is first compared with the independent assessment of 

the hotel’s fair value. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, 

the question is then whether the value in use differs substantially 

from the fair value. If this is not the case, then the carrying value 

is written down to correspond to the fair value. 

If the impairment subsequently disappears, the impairment loss 

is reversed through profit and loss, up to the lower of the  

new recoverable amount or the depreciated original cost of 

acquisition or construction. The Group had no such reversals of 

impairment losses in 2011 or the previous year. 

Goodwill carried in the balance sheet is subjected to an 

impairment test on a yearly basis, in accordance with IAS 36. 

2.7.7.2.	F inancial instruments 
S IMMO Group reviews all its financial assets, with the exception 

of those measured at fair value through profit and loss, at every 

balance sheet date for any objective indications that any asset 

or group of assets may have suffered impairment. 

For debt instruments of all kinds except those measured at fair 

value through profit and loss, an impairment is recognised if as 

a result of one or more events taking place after the initial 

recognition of the asset there is objective evidence that S IMMO 

Group will no longer be in a position to collect the payments 

relating to the asset. The amount of the impairment is calculated 

as the difference between the carrying value of the financial 

asset and the present value of the future cash flows, calculated 

using the original rate of interest on the asset. A subsequent 

disappearance of the factors causing the impairment and a 

recovery in value entails a reversal of the impairment loss. 
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Trade receivables 

Where there are objective indications that individual receivables 

cannot be recovered in full, specific provisions are made against 

the amounts expected to be irrecoverable. S IMMO Group also 

makes general provisions for doubtful individual debts on the 

basis of experience, generally applying the following principles: 

	 Receivables overdue by more than 3 months: 

	 50% provision 

	 Receivables overdue by more than 1 year:	

	 100% provision 

The outstanding balances are constantly monitored by the 

responsible asset managers, so that appropriate measures can 

be taken in good time.  

2.7.8.	O ther assets 
Other assets are measured at acquisition cost less any impair-

ment losses, which are recognised through profit and loss. 

2.7.9.	C ash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash and credit balances 

with banks at call, together with bank deposits with a maturity of 

up to three months at the time of the original deposit. 

2.7.10.	O ther provisions 
Other provisions are made where S IMMO Group has legal or 

constructive obligations to other parties arising from past events, 

where it is probable that the obligation will lead to an outflow of 

resources and where the amount of the obligation can reliably 

be estimated. 

Provisions are made in the amounts representing the best 

possible estimates of the expense of meeting the obligations. 

Where the present value of the provision calculated using a 

market rate of interest differs materially from the nominal value, 

the present value is recognised. 

Appropriate provision has been made for unresolved legal 

disputes and other legal proceedings. 

A provision is made for onerous contracts (provision for project 

and transaction risks) when the expected revenues from a 

contract are exceeded by the unavoidable costs of meeting the 

obligations under the contract. The amount of the provision is 

the lower of the cost of withdrawing from the contract and the net 

cost of completing it. Before separate provision for an onerous 

contract is made, impairment expenses on assets connected 

with the contract are recognised. 

2.7.11.	T axes 
Tax provisions include both current taxes payable by the 

individual companies and deferred taxes. 

In accordance with IAS 12, deferred taxes are recognised on all 

temporary differences between the carrying value of an asset or 

liability in the consolidated financial statements and the carrying 

value for tax purposes in the individual accounts of the Group’s 

subsidiaries. Where it can with reasonable certainty be expected 

that a property can be disposed of without giving rise to a tax 

liability, no deferred tax is provided. Additionally, tax credits from 

tax loss carryforwards that are expected to be realisable are 

recognised as deferred tax assets. 

Deferred taxes are calculated using the applicable tax rates at 

the balance sheet date, or where changes in tax law have  

already been adopted, at the rates applicable in future. 
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Deferred taxes assets are recognised in connection with tax loss 

carryforwards only where in the Management’s estimation it is 

probable that the losses can be offset against future taxable 

profits of the relevant company in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities within an indi

vidual company are only netted off where the company in 

question has a legally enforceable right to set tax assets and 

liabilities against each other, and where the deferred taxes  

relate to taxes on income assessable by the same tax authority 

on the same company. 

2.7.12.	 Revenues 

2.7.12.1.	 Rental income 
Rental income is recognised evenly over the term of the rental 

agreement. One-time payments and waivers of rent are spread 

over the lifetime of rental agreements. 

2.7.12.2.	 Revenues from hotel operations 
Revenues from hotel operations consist largely of room  

rental income and catering income. Income is recognised in  

proportion to the services rendered at balance sheet date. 

2.7.12.3.	 Income and costs from financial instruments 
Income from financial investments includes interest, dividends 

and capital gains from the investment of funds and from invest-

ments in financial assets, together with reversals of impairment 

losses. Dividends are recognised at the time the resolutions 

authorising the dividend distribution are passed. 

Financial expenses include interest and similar expenses on 

external borrowings and similar expenses, incidental costs, 

losses on disposal of financial assets, impairment losses, current 

hedging results and exchange rate gains and losses on the 

valuation of monetary assets and liabilities at individual company 

level. 

Interest is accrued using the effective interest rate method. 

The valuation of derivatives reflects gains and losses on the 

disposal or revaluation of interest caps, collars and swaps, 

which have been recognised in equity through profit and loss. 

Where applicable, short-term exchange gains or losses on the 

valuation of financial instruments are disclosed here. 

2.7.13.	E stimation and assumption uncertainties 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accor

dance with IFRS requires estimates and assumptions by 

Management about future developments. These can have a 

material influence on the recognition and measurement of  

assets and liabilities, on information about other obligations at 

the balance sheet date and on disclosure of income and 

expenses during the financial year. 
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In case of the following assumptions there is a not inconsider

able risk that they may result in a material adjustment of assets 

and liabilities in the next financial year. 

	 The calculation of the fair value of properties held as  

financial investments has mostly been based on expert valua-

tions by internationally recognised valuers such as CBRE and 

PricewaterhouseCoopers. The valuations have been prepared  

in compliance with International Valuation Standards. The values 

of these properties depend to a significant extent on present 

estimates of future rental trends and vacancy levels, and on 

interest rates used for discounting purposes. The valuations 

apply the earnings value method, on the basis of expected 

sustainable future rental yields and market interest rates (Austria: 

3.0% – 6.0%; foreign countries: 4.8% – 10.0%). Properties held as 

financial assets have a carrying value of EUR 1,772,379,000 

(31.12.2010: EUR 1,866,311,000). 

	 Estimates of the long-term value of tangible and  

intangible assets are based on assumptions about the future. 

The calculation of recoverable amounts for the purpose of 

impairment tests is based on several assumptions, for example, 

about future net cash flows and discount rates. The carrying 

value of intangible assets amounted to EUR 165,000  

(31.12.2010: EUR 179,000), that of other non-current assets to 

EUR 7,472,000 (31.12.2010: EUR 9,069,000). Owner-operated 

properties have a carrying value of EUR 134,321,000  

(31.12.2010: EUR 140,755,000).

	 In estimating the value of financial instruments (in particular, 

derivatives) for which no active market exists, alternative 

valuation methods based on investment mathematics are 

employed. The parameters on which estimates of fair value are 

based depend in part on assumptions about the future. The 

carrying values of financial instruments are detailed in note 5.1. 

	 The recognition of deferred tax assets for tax loss carry

forwards is based on the assumption that sufficient taxable 

income will be earned to enable existing loss carryforwards to be 

utilised in future. Deferred tax assets for tax loss carryforwards  

of EUR 21,425,000 (31.12.2010: EUR 17,967,000) have been 

recognised. 

	 Obligations arising from sureties, guarantees and similar 

liabilities not included in the consolidated statement of financial 

position are regularly reviewed to ensure that they do not require 

to be so recognised and included. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are subject to ongoing 

review. Actual outcomes may differ from the assumptions and 

estimates made if developments in the business environment 

turn out differently to expectations. Changes are reflected in 

profit or loss as soon as the altered circumstances become 

known, and the assumptions are adjusted accordingly. 
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3.	�N otes on the consolidated statement of financial position  
and consolidated income statement

3.1.		 Statement of financial position 

3.1.1.	 Properties held as financial investments 

 EUR ’000 Investment properties 
Investment properties and 

undeveloped land 

As at 01 January 2010 1,253,432 445,784

Additions (including initial consolidations) 200,167 9,007

Disposals -21,733 -191

Changes in fair value -7,153 -7,000

Reclassifications 385,610 -391,610

As at 31 December 2010 1,810,322 55,989

	 whereof pledged as security 1,767,758 0

Additions 1) 12,053 1,991

Disposals -25,316 0

Changes in fair value  -17,360 -2,500

Reclassifications  -62,800 0

As at 31 December 2011 1,716,899 55,480

	 whereof pledged as security 1,684,951 0

1)	Additions as a result of initial consolidations in the financial year 2011: EUR 0 (31.12.2010: EUR 180,700,000)

Additions by country were as follows:

Rental properties 

EUR ’000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Austria 324 179,762

Germany 9,827 14,575

Central Europe 1,766 5,583

Southeastern Europe 136 247

 12,053 200,167

Investment properties and undeveloped land 

EUR ’000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Austria 0 8,432

Germany 0 0

Central Europe 147 137

Southeastern Europe 1,844 438

 1,991 9,007
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Made up of: 

Rental properties 

EUR ’000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Austria 568,390 579,914

Germany 513,385 565,857

Central Europe 305,855 308,640

Southeastern Europe 329,269 355,911

 1,716,899 1,810,322

Investment properties and undeveloped land 

EUR ’000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Austria 0 0

Germany 0 0

Central Europe 6,322 6,175

Southeastern Europe 49,158 49,814

 55,480 55,989

In financial 2011, borrowing costs totalling EUR 395,000 (2010: 

EUR 6,511,000) were capitalised. These amounts related to 

properties still under construction and properties completed 

during 2011 for the time prior to their completion. 

3.1.2.	�O wner-operated properties, other plant and 
equipment and intangible assets

Changes in the acquisition costs of owner-operated hotels, other 

plant and equipment and intangible assets were as follows: 

EUR ’000 
Owner-

operated hotels
Other plant 

and equipment
Intangible 

assets Total 

Acquisition costs as at 01 January 2010 170,727 16,551 400 187,678

Additions 1,260 713 96 2,069

Disposals  0 -2,602 -10 -2,612

As at 31 December 2010 171,987 14,662 486 187,135

Additions  524 645 57 1,226

Disposals 0 0 -5 -5

As at 31 December 2011 172,511 15,307 538 188,356
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Changes in the accumulated depreciation and amortisation  

of owner-operated hotels, other plant and equipment and 

intangible assets were as follows: 

EUR ’000 
Owner-

operated hotels
Other plant 

and equipment
Intangible 

assets Total 

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation  
as at 01 January 2010 23,430 3,477 177 27,084

Depreciation and amortisation 7,802 2,116 136 10,054

Disposals 0 0 -6 -6

As at 31 December 2010 31,232 5,593 307 37,132

Depreciation and amortisation 6,958 2,242 66 9,266

Disposals 0 0 0 0

As at 31 December 2011 38,190 7,835 373 46,398

Carrying value as at 01 January 2010 147,296 13,074 223 160,593

Carrying value as at 31 December 2010 140,755 9,069 179 150,003

Carrying value as at 31 December 2011 134,321 7,472 165 141,958

In the financial year 2011, there were no impairment losses on 

owner-occupied properties. 

3.1.3.	 Goodwill 
Changes in goodwill were as follows: 

EUR ’000 Goodwill 

As at 01 January 2010 0

Additions – initial consolidation 2,296

Impairment losses -2,196

As at 31 December 2010 100

Additions/Disposals 0

Impairment losses -90

As at 31 December 2011 10

The goodwill of EUR 2,296,000 arose on initial consolidation in 

the financial year 2010 of VIERTEL ZWEI Hotel GmbH & Co KG, 

which forms part of the Austrian business segment. Because the 

Courtyard by Marriott Hotel, which is operated by this company 

is treated as a cash generating unit, the value of the goodwill 

was subjected to an impairment test. Since the synergy effects 

to be expected fall significantly short of the goodwill that arose 

on initial consolidation, an impairment writedown of EUR 90,000 

was made in the financial year 2011 (2010: EUR 2,196,000) as 

part of the gains/losses on property valuation. 
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3.1.4.	P roperties held for disposal

EUR ’000 Austria Germany Total

As at  
01 January 2010 54,300 0 54,300

Reclassifications 0 6,000 6,000

Decrease -54,300 0 -54,300

As at  
31 December 2010 0 6,000 6,000

Reclassifications 16,250 46,550 62,800

Decrease 0 -6,000 -6,000

As at  
31 December 2011 16,250 46,550 62,800

The amount of EUR 62,800,000 relates to one residential 

property in Vienna, seven residential properties in Berlin, one 

residential property in Hamburg and one office property in 

Munich. 

3.1.5.	I nventories 
Inventories consist mainly of freehold apartments under con-

struction in Austria and are measured at cost. 

3.1.6.	�T rade receivables and other accounts 
receivable 

Trade receivables include rents receivable from tenants less any 

specific provisions required. These consist mainly of provisions 

against receivables in Southeastern Europe of EUR 10,750,000 

(2010: EUR 6,058,000) and in Germany of EUR 2,705,000 (2010: 

EUR 2,546,000). 

3.1.6.1.	 Receivables – due dates 

2011 2010

EUR ’000 
Trade 

receivables 

Other 
accounts 

receivable 
Trade 

receivables 

Other 
accounts 

receivable 

Not yet due 4,869 11,268 5,359 31,908

Less than 3 months overdue 3,757 1,323 4,692 4,293

3 to 12 months overdue 1,045 2,186 104 5,056

More than 1 year overdue 272 1,210 169 1,030

Total 9,943 15,987 10,324 42,287
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3.1.6.2.	 Other financial assets 

EUR ’000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Current tax credits 4,629 11,080

Receivables from property 
disposals 2,583 9,983

Property management agents 
clearing accounts 1,484 2,371

Present value of rental 
guarantee 923 1,154

Construction loan subsidies 
outstanding 233 347

Accrued interest and interest 
rate caps and collars 259 5,204

Other assets 5,876 12,148

 15,987 42,287

3.1.7.	C ash and cash equivalents 

EUR ’000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Bank balances 115,033 129,464

Cash on hand 227 257

 115,260 129,721

 
3.1.8.	 Shareholders’ equity 
The nominal share capital of the Group’s parent company  

was unchanged from the previous year and amounted to 

EUR 247,509,000. The share capital is fully paid up. 

In October 2011, a share repurchase programme was decided 

on, which will end on or before 31 May 2012. As of 31 December 

2011, 321,550 shares had been repurchased for a total of  

EUR 1,330,000. 

The Management Board is authorised to increase the issued 

share capital by up to EUR 123,755,000 by the issue of new 

bearer shares for contributions in cash or in kind (authorised 

capital). 

 

Details of share capital 

EUR ’000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Total share capital 247,509 247,509

Treasury shares (nominal) -1,168 0

246,341 247,509

Changes in share capital 

Number of shares 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Authorised share capital  
as at 01 January 68,118,718 68,118,718

Repurchase of own shares -321,550 0

Issue of new shares 0 0

Treasury shares sold 0 0

Authorised share capital  
as at 31 December 67,797,168 68,118,718

The shares are listed in the Prime Market Segment of the Vienna 

Stock Exchange. 

The nominal share capital is divided into 68,118,718 ordinary 

bearer shares of no par value.

The bearer shares provide the shareholders the usual rights 

given under the Austrian Companies Act (AktG). These include 

the right to payment of the dividend approved by the Annual 

General Meeting and the right to vote at the Annual General 

Meeting. 

The capital reserves of EUR 73,416,000 (31.12.2010: EUR 

73,578,000) are restricted reserves in the meaning of section 

229(5) UGB. 
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The other reserves of EUR 231,952,000 (31.12.2010:  

EUR 211,918,000) shown in the statement of changes in 

consolidated equity consist in the main of released capital 

reserves together with accumulated retained profits or losses. 

The foreign currency reserve of EUR -22,040,000 (31.12.2010: 

EUR -13,398,000) is made up of the currency translation 

differences in accordance with IAS 21. The hedge accounting 

reserve of EUR -55,627,000 (31.12.2010: EUR -38,335,000) 

comprises the valuation differences on cash flow hedges 

recognised in equity. 

Additional information on capital management 
S IMMO Group manages its capital with the aim of maximising 

its returns by optimising the relationship between equity and 

debt. At the same time, care is taken to ensure that all Group 

companies can operate on a going concern basis.

The Group’s capital consists of bank and financial liabilities, 

equity provided by the shareholders in the parent company,  

and subordinated participating certificates, described in more 

detail in note 3.1.10. There are no provisions in the articles of 

incorporation concerning capital structure. 

The shareholders’ equity consists of the shares in issue, capital 

and revenue reserves and the consolidated net profit, as shown 

in the statement of Changes in Consolidated Equity. 

The capital structure is under constant review, and the costs of 

capital and the risks attached to each type of capital are taken 

into account. The Group will continue to ensure that the capital 

structure is optimal, by issuing and repaying debt and as 

appropriate issuing and repurchasing shares. 

The Group’s overall strategy is the same as in 2010.    

3.1.9.	N on-controlling interests 
The minority interests of EUR 29,088,000 (31.12.2010:  

EUR 31,426,000) consisted principally of Einkaufscenter Sofia 

G.m.b.H. & Co KG (35% interest). 

3.1.10.	 Subordinated participating certificates 
The terms of the agreement for S IMMO INVEST participating 

certificates were changed retroactively with effect from  

01 January 2007 and the S IMMO INVEST Participating  

Certificates Fund was dissolved (resolution of the meeting of  

the holders of the participating certificates of 11 June 2007  

and resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 12 June 2007). 

Under the amended agreement, the holders of the participating 

certificates receive an annual income entitlement (interest) 

calculated as follows: 

(Participating certificate 
capital + profit brought  * 

forward)

Consolidated EBIT 

Average property portfolio  
(not including development 

projects) 

To the extent that the interest under the terms of the Participating 

Certificates Agreement is not paid out, it is added to the profit 

carried forward into the next year. 

For the financial year 2011, the total share of earnings was 

EUR 10,595,000 (2010: EUR 9,452,000). 

As at 31 December 2011, there were 2,905,426 participating 

certificates in issue. The total entitlements of participating 

certificate holders as of that date were EUR 79.44 per certificate 

(2010: EUR 79.95), made up as follows:
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EUR ’000 

Participating 
certificates 

capital 
Profit brought 

forward 
Profit for 

period 

Share of 
undisclosed 
reserves on 

property 
portfolio Total 

Participating certificate capital –  
01 January 2011 234,352   1,254 235,606

Profit brought forward 01 January 2011  12,762   12,762

Income entitlements of participating certificate 
holders from 2010   9,452  9,452

Distribution – 28 April 2011   -13,869  -13,869

Change in profit brought forward pursuant to 
Clause 5(6), Participating Certificates Agreement  -4,417 4,417  0

Repurchase and retirement of 319,458  
participating certificates -23,215 -999  -124 -24,339

Income entitlements of participating certificate 
holders   10,595  10,595

Allocation of undisclosed reserves on  
property portfolio     590 590

Participating certificates capital  
as at 31 December 2011 211,137 7,345 10,595 1,720 230,797

Per participating certificate (EUR) 72.67 2.53 3.65 0.59 79.44

Previous year: 

EUR ’000

Participating 
certificates 

capital 
Profit brought 

forward 
Profit for 

period 

Share of 
undisclosed 
reserves on 

property 
portfolio Total 

Participating certificates capital –  
01 January 2010 234,352   484 234,836

Profit brought forward 01 January 2010  36,788   36,788

Income entitlements of participating certificate 
holders from 2009   -9,966  -9,966

Distribution – 21 May 2010  -14,060   -14,060

Change in profit brought forward pursuant to 
Clause 5(6), Participating Certificates Agreement  -9,966 9,966  0

Income entitlements of participating certificate 
holders   9,452   9,452

Allocation of undisclosed reserves on property 
portfolio    770 770

Participating certificates capital  
as at 31 December 2010 234,352 12,762 9,452 1,254 257,820

Per participating certificate (EUR) 72.67 3.96 2.93 0.39 79.95
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The participating certificates mature on 31 December 2029. With effect from 31 December 2017, both the holders and the Company 

may annually give notice of redemption of the participating certificates in whole or in part. 

3.1.11.	P rovisions 

EUR ’000 
01 January 

2011  Released Utilised Increased 31.12.2011

Project and transaction risks 4,200 0 0 1,000 5,200

Taxes on income 362 -179 -80 171 274

Other provisions 4,208 0 -2,565 775 2,418

8,770 -179 -2,645 1,946 7,892

The provision for project and transaction risks relates to risks with respect to projects currently being carried out. 

Other provisions consisted mainly of personnel provisions and provisions for management fees. 

3.1.12.		T  axes on income 

3.1.12.1		C urrent and deferred taxes on income  
Tax expense was made up as follows: 

EUR ’000 2011 2010

Current taxes -1,546 -2,239

Deferred taxes -6,852 -4,750

 -8,398 -6,989

Taxes on income comprise income tax on the taxable income of 

the individual companies included in consolidation for the 

financial year, adjustments to prior years’ tax, and changes in 

deferred taxation. 

The reconciliation of income tax at the standard rate to the 

income tax disclosed in the financial statements is as follows: 

EUR ’000 01 – 12 / 2011 01 – 12 / 2010

Profit before taxes 29,643 9,123

Income tax expense at the 
standard Austrian tax rate  
of 25% -7,411 -2,281

Effects of differing foreign  
tax rates 268 -476

Reductions in tax relating to 
tax neutral income 9,296 3,779

Increases in tax relating to 
non-deductible expenses -10,550 -9,209

Tax credit in respect of  
prior years 0 1,198

Tax expense as disclosed -8,398 -6,989
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3.1.12.2		 Deferred tax liabilities 
In accordance with IAS 12, the provision for deferred taxation is 

calculated using the balance sheet liability method: For all 

temporary differences between the balance sheet values in the 

IFRS consolidated statement of financial position and the  

current values for tax purposes for the individual companies, 

deferred tax must be provided. Temporary differences can be 

either: 

	 taxable temporary differences, which will result in taxable 

amounts in the calculation of taxable income or tax loss in future, 

when the carrying value of the asset is realised or the liability is 

settled, or 

	 deductible temporary differences, which will result in tax 

deductible amounts in the calculation of taxable income or tax 

loss in future, when the carrying value of the asset is realised or 

the liability is settled. 

As a general principle, a deferred tax asset or liability must be 

recognised for all taxable temporary differences. There are 

exceptions for the recognition of goodwill in an initial consolida-

tion or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a business 

transaction which is not a business combination and at the time 

of the transaction does not affect the profit or loss either under 

IFRS or for tax purposes. 

Temporary differences between values in the IFRS consolidated 

statement of financial position and the corresponding values for 

tax purposes had the following effects on deferred taxes as 

shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

EUR ’000 2011 2010

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Properties held as financial investments 1,326 -69,478 933 -58,487

Financial instruments 17,792 -40 13,077 -359

Other items 974 -1,067 596 -1,253

Tax loss carryforwards 21,425 0 17,967 0

41,517 -70,585 32,573 -60,099

Netting -7,985 7,985 -4,118 4,118

Deferred tax assets (+) / liabilities (-) 33,532 -62,600 28,455 -55,981

No deferred tax assets have been recognised for tax loss carry-

forwards totalling EUR 89,543,000. 
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3.1.12.3.	 Measurement 
Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax rates in 

force or expected to apply in the relevant countries at the time of 

realisation. Changes in tax legislation in force or approved at 

balance sheet date are taken into account. The tax rates used in 

calculating deferred taxes were as follows: 

Tax rate for 
2011 

Tax rate for 
2012 

Austria 25.00% 25.00%

Germany 29.40%1) 29.40%1)

Czech Republic 19.00% 19.00%

Slovakia 19.00% 19.00%

Hungary 19.00%2) 19.00%2)

Croatia 20.00% 20.00%

Romania 16.00% 16.00%

Bulgaria 10.00% 10.00%

1)	�The tax rate in Germany can vary, depending on whether the company 

is liable to business tax or not. An average tax rate has therefore been 

used. 
2)	�The tax rate in Hungary is progressive: up to a taxable amount of  

HUF 500,000,000, the tax rate is 10%, thereafter 19% 

Deferred taxes are only recognised for the property subsidiaries 

to the extent that a tax burden is expected to arise on the rental 

or sale of the properties involved. 

3.2.		I ncome statement 

3.2.1.	 Revenues 

EUR ’000 2011 2010

Rental income –  
office property 43,691 31,382

Rental income –  
residential property 28,022 27,919

Rental income –  
retail property 44,937 39,459

Rental income – hotels 9,293 5,232

125,943 103,992

3.2.2.	�O perating costs and expenses from properties 
and hotel operations 

These costs and expenses are expenses in connection with 

non-current property assets.

EUR ’000 2011 2010

Expenses directly 
attributable to properties 

Operating costs -45,988 -40,591

Repairs and maintenance -14,071 -12,964

Provisions on trade 
receivables -8,051 -7,427

Commissions -3,808 -2,847

Other -5,064 -6,266

-76,982 -70,095

Expenses of EUR 729,000 were attributable to properties not yet 

generating income (2010: EUR 200,000). 
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The expenses of hotel operations are largely made up of 

expenses for food, beverages, catering supplies, hotel rooms, 

licences and management fees, repairs and maintenance, 

operating costs, commissions, personnel expenses and 

advertising.  

3.2.3.	 Gains on property disposals 

EUR ’000 2011 2010

Disposal proceeds  

Properties held as  
financial investments 32,486 24,041

Properties held for disposal 6,300 56,050

Inventories 7,714 22,599

46,500 102,690

Carrying value of  
property disposals 

Properties held as  
financial investments -25,316 -21,733

Properties held for disposal -6,000 -54,300

Inventories -3,600 -16,778

-34,916 -92,811

Gains on property 
disposals 

Properties held as  
financial investments 7,170 2,308

Properties held for disposal 300 1,750

Inventories 4,114 5,821

11,584 9,879

3.2.4.	 Management expenses 
Management expenses are expenses not directly attributable to 

properties; they were made up as follows: 

EUR ’000 2011 2010

Personnel expenses -6,581 -5,726

Legal, audit, valuation and 
consultancy costs -4,077 -4,537

Service fees and 
administration expenses -1,582 -2,816

Advertising and  
promotional expenses -1,205 -1,425

Other taxes and charges -932 -737

Other -2,792 -3,409

-17,169 -18,650

Fees invoiced by the Group’s auditors totalled EUR 219,000 

(2010: EUR 263,000) in 2011. Of this, EUR 160,000 (2010: 

EUR 173,000) was the cost of the annual audit and EUR 59,000 

(2010: EUR 90,000) was for tax consulting services. 

The average number of employees in 2011 was 532 (2010: 540), 

including hotel staff. Personnel expenses for the hotels are 

disclosed under hotel operations. 

The personnel expenses disclosed here are salaries of the 

Group’s employees other than the hotel staff. The amount  

also includes performance related premiums paid to certain 

employees under individual agreements. 
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Defined contribution plans 

As required by law, S IMMO Group pays 1.53% of the relevant 

monthly salaries into an employees’ severance pay and  

pensions fund for all employees who joined the Group after 

31 December 2002. Personnel expenses in 2011 included con-

tributions of EUR 40,000 (2010: EUR 34,000) paid into the fund. 

They also included expenses for pensions in the amount of  

EUR 131,000 (2010: EUR 136,000). 

Defined benefit plans following termination of employment 

For persons employed before 01 January 2003, S IMMO Group  

is obliged under the statutory provisions to make a one-time 

severance payment to any employee, whose employment is 

terminated by the employer or who reaches the age of retire-

ment while employed. The benefit entitlements are dependent 

on the number of years of service and the level of remuneration 

at the time of the entitlement arising, and amount to between two 

and 12 months’ salary. Provision is made for these obligations. 

Personnel expenses in 2011 included expenses of EUR 27,000 

(2010: EUR 23,000) for this purpose. 

3.2.5.	 Depreciation and amortisation 
This item comprises depreciation and amortisation on owner-

operated properties, other plant and equipment, and intangible 

assets, and was made up as follows: 

EUR ’000 2011 2010

Owner-operated properties -6,958 -7,802

Other plant and equipment -2,242 -2,116

Intangible assets -66 -136

-9,266 -10,054

3.2.6.	 Gains/losses on property valuation
Gains and losses on revaluation include all increases and 

decreases in value on properties held as financial investments, 

and were made up as follows: 

EUR ’000 2011 2010

Changes in fair value   

	 Increases 37,861 37,799

	 Decreases -57,721 -51,952

Impairment losses  

	 Owner-operated properties 0 0

	 Goodwill -90 -2,196

Other 20,096 15,516

146 -833

Other operating income from property valuations for the year 

2011 consists of the release of provisions. In 2010, this included 

negative goodwill from the acquisition of VIERTEL ZWEI project 

companies as well as the release of provisions. 
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Gains and losses on revaluation by region were as follows: 

EUR ’000 2011 2010

Austria 9,286 22,286

Germany 5,981 13,716

Central Europe -4,551 -8,488

Southeastern Europe -10,570 -28,347

146 -833

3.2.7.	F inancing costs 

EUR ’000 2011 2010

Bank interest expenses  
(incl. settled derivatives) -56,088 -38,729

Other financing and interest 
expenses -1,455 -3,130

Exchange differences 7,328 -1,569

Valuation of derivatives -3,295 637

Income from investments 447 592

Bank interest income 681 539

Other financing and interest 
income 924 459

-51,458 -41,201

3.2.8.	E arnings per share 
The earnings per share ratio compares the consolidated net 

profit with the average number of shares in circulation during  

the year. 

2011 2010

Equity share of 
consolidated net 
profit 

EUR 
’000 20,034 1,843

Average number of 
shares in circulation Units 68,072,797 68,118,718

Undiluted earnings EUR 0.29 0.03

Diluted earnings EUR 0.29 0.03

Diluted and undiluted earnings per share are the same, since 

there are no potentially dilutive financial instruments in issue. 
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Each segment is operationally independent of the others, since 

each must take the local market and business environment into 

account. The Group’s CFO (board level) has been nominated as 

the chief operating decision maker with responsibility for seg-

ment operations. He is responsible for allocation of resources to 

4.	O perating segments 

An operating segment is defined as having the following 

characteristics: 

	 It engages in business activities in which it may earn revenue 

and incur expenses.

	 Its operating results are reported regularly to the enterprise’s 

chief operating decision maker, who uses the information to 

allocate resources to it and review its performance. 

	 Separate financial information is available for the segment. 

For S IMMO Group, therefore, segmentation is on the basis of 

regions. The four regions selected are as follows. 

Austria:  This operating segment includes all the Group’s 

Austrian subsidiaries. 

Germany:  This operating segment includes the German 

subsidiaries and also the subsidiaries in Denmark, which are 

property ownership companies holding properties in Germany. 

Central Europe:  This operating segment comprises the 

subsidiaries in Slovakia, the Czech Republic and Hungary. 

Southeastern Europe:  This operating segment includes the 

subsidiaries in Bulgaria, Croatia and Romania. The subsidiaries 

in Cyprus are also treated as part of this segment, which are 

related to the Group companies in Romania and Ukraine. 

Austria Germany Central Europe Southeastern Europe Total 

EUR ’000 2011 2010  2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Rental income 31,029 21,719  36,337 35,383 26,793 20,767 31,784 26,123 125,943 103,992

Revenues from service 
charges 8,204 5,276  13,335 12,263 7,186 6,918 12,532 8,182 41,257 32,640

Revenues from hotel 
operations 23,885 23,466  0 0 16,727 14,845 0 0 40,612 38,311

Total revenues 63,118 50,461  49,672 47,646 50,706 42,530 44,316 34,305 207,812 174,943

Other operating income 5,430 1,820  1,834 1,406 321 419 152 1,328 7,737 4,973

Property operating expenses -15,319 -11,676  -29,104 -30,023 -9,843 -8,761 -22,716 -19,635 -76,982 -70,095

Hotel operating expenses -19,109  -18,506  0 0 -12,467 -11,110 0 0 -31,576 -29,617

Gross profit 34,120 22,099  22,402 19,029 28,717 23,078 21,752 15,998 106,991 80,204

Gains/losses on property 
disposals 5,026 9,155  6,558 737 0 0 0 -13 11,584 9,879

Management expenses -9,959 -10,609  -4,545 -4,480 -1,206 -1,309 -1,459 -2,252 -17,169 -18,650

EBITDA 29,187 20,646  24,415 15,286 27,511 21,768 20,293 13,733 101,406 71,433

Depreciation and amortisation -3,631 -3,740  -164 -201 -4,350 -5,050 -1,121 -1,063 -9,266 -10,054

Gains/losses on property 
valuation 9,286  22,288  5,981 13,814 -4,551 -8,588 -10,570 -28,347 146 -833

EBIT 34,842 39,194  30,232 28,899 18,610 8,130 8,602 -15,677 92,286 60,546

Non-current assets as at  
31 December 663,372 661,387  513,956 566,341 381,382 388,564 398,165 431,699 1,956,875 2,047,991

Non-current liabilities (incl. 
participating certificates in 
Austria) as at 31 December 706,434 776,680  290,974 334,867 245,136 246,459 171,833 204,306 1,414,377 1,562,312
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the individual segments and for reviewing their performance. 

Quarterly management reports are prepared for each operating 

segment and submitted to the CFO. 

In preparing and presenting the segment information, the same 

accounting and valuation policies are applied as for the consoli-

dated financial statements. 

 

Major customers 
Because of the large number of customers, no single customer 

is responsible for more than 10% of S IMMO Group’s total 

revenues. 

Austria Germany Central Europe Southeastern Europe Total 

EUR ’000 2011 2010  2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Rental income 31,029 21,719  36,337 35,383 26,793 20,767 31,784 26,123 125,943 103,992

Revenues from service 
charges 8,204 5,276  13,335 12,263 7,186 6,918 12,532 8,182 41,257 32,640

Revenues from hotel 
operations 23,885 23,466  0 0 16,727 14,845 0 0 40,612 38,311

Total revenues 63,118 50,461  49,672 47,646 50,706 42,530 44,316 34,305 207,812 174,943

Other operating income 5,430 1,820  1,834 1,406 321 419 152 1,328 7,737 4,973

Property operating expenses -15,319 -11,676  -29,104 -30,023 -9,843 -8,761 -22,716 -19,635 -76,982 -70,095

Hotel operating expenses -19,109  -18,506  0 0 -12,467 -11,110 0 0 -31,576 -29,617

Gross profit 34,120 22,099  22,402 19,029 28,717 23,078 21,752 15,998 106,991 80,204

Gains/losses on property 
disposals 5,026 9,155  6,558 737 0 0 0 -13 11,584 9,879

Management expenses -9,959 -10,609  -4,545 -4,480 -1,206 -1,309 -1,459 -2,252 -17,169 -18,650

EBITDA 29,187 20,646  24,415 15,286 27,511 21,768 20,293 13,733 101,406 71,433

Depreciation and amortisation -3,631 -3,740  -164 -201 -4,350 -5,050 -1,121 -1,063 -9,266 -10,054

Gains/losses on property 
valuation 9,286  22,288  5,981 13,814 -4,551 -8,588 -10,570 -28,347 146 -833

EBIT 34,842 39,194  30,232 28,899 18,610 8,130 8,602 -15,677 92,286 60,546

Non-current assets as at  
31 December 663,372 661,387  513,956 566,341 381,382 388,564 398,165 431,699 1,956,875 2,047,991

Non-current liabilities (incl. 
participating certificates in 
Austria) as at 31 December 706,434 776,680  290,974 334,867 245,136 246,459 171,833 204,306 1,414,377 1,562,312
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5.	O ther information 

5.1.	Financial instruments 

5.1.1.	C ategories 
S IMMO Group classifies its financial instruments as follows: 

31 December 2011  

 

Carrying values EUR ’000 Derivatives
Available 

for sale 
Held to 

maturity 
Loans and 

receivables Other 

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

ASSETS 

Group interests  8,991     8,991

Trade receivables    9,943   9,943

Other financial assets 259   3,534 12,194  15,987

TOTAL ASSETS 259 8,991 0 13,477 12,194 0 34,921

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Non-current liabilities           

Subordinated participating 
certificate capital      230,797 230,797

Financial liabilities 76,786     1,026,585 1,103,371

Other liabilities      9,717 9,717

Current liabilities        

Financial liabilities      208,888 208,888

Trade payables      9,900 9,900

TOTAL EQUITY  
AND LIABILITIES 76,786 0 0 0 0 1,485,887 1,562,673
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31 December 2010  

 

Carrying values EUR ’000 Derivatives 
Available 

for sale 
Held to 

maturity 
Loans and 

receivables Other 

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

ASSETS 

Group interests  3,117     3,117

Trade receivables    10,324    10,324

Other financial assets 5,204   11,755 25,328  42,287

TOTAL ASSETS 5,204 3,117 0 22,079 25,328 0 55,728

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Non-current liabilities         

Subordinated participating 
certificate capital      257,820 257,820

Financial liabilities 54,212     1,174,574 1,228,786

Other liabilities        10,955 10,955

Current liabilities        

Financial liabilities      124,123 124,123

Trade payables      16,479 16,479

TOTAL EQUITY  
AND LIABILITIES 54,212 0 0 0 0 1,583,951 1,638,163

For the most part the carrying values are measured at fair  

value. The non-current and current financial liabilities contain 

fixed interest loans amounting to EUR 92,787,000 (2010:  

EUR 120,650,000). 
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5.1.2.	 Measurement of fair values 
The following analysis classifies financial instruments measured at fair value on the basis of the method of valuation for which 

purpose a hierarchy of three levels is used: 

Level 1: Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities listed on an active market (without 
adjustment) 

Level 2: Market inputs for assets or liabilities that are observable either directly (e.g., prices) or 
indirectly (e.g., derived from prices) other than Level 1 inputs 

Level 3: Inputs for assets or liabilities not based on observable market data 

31 December 2011 

EUR ’000 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Other financial assets    o 

Derivatives 0 259 0 259

Financial liabilities    o 

Derivatives 0 -76,786 0 -76,786

31 December 2010 

EUR ’000 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Other financial assets    o 

Derivatives 0 5,204 0 5,204

Financial liabilities    o 

Derivatives 0 -54,212 0 -54,212
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5.1.3.	 Derivatives
S IMMO Group’s derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. As at 31 December 2011, derivatives disclosed under 

other receivables amounted to EUR 259,000 (2010: EUR 5,204,000) and derivatives disclosed under non-current financial liabilities 

totalled EUR 76,786,000 (2010: EUR 54,212,000).  

31 December 2011 31 December 2010

EUR ’000 Nominal 
Positive 

fair value 
Negative 
fair value Maturity Nominal 

Positive 
fair value 

Negative 
fair value Maturity 

Swaps 0 0 0
more than 

1 year 84,891 0 -1,024
more than 

1 year

   78,813 0 -8,840 1 to 5 years 3,926 0 -244 1 to 5 years

 382,680 0 -49,079
more than 

5 years 393,600 3,338 -38,513
more than 

5 years

Caps 85,000 51 0 
more than  

1 year 0 0 0
more than  

1 year

 280,746 208 0 1 to 5 years 365,746 1,866 0 1 to 5 years

108,760 0 -1,878
more than 5 

years 0 0 0
more than 5 

years

Collars 200,000 0 -16,988 1 to 5 years 100,000 0 -9,227 1 to 5 years

 0 0 0
more than 

5 years 100,000 0 -5,202
more than 

5 years

Total 1,135,999 259 -76,786 1,048,163 5,204 -54,212

5.2.		 Risk management 

5.2.1.	E xchange and interest rate risk 
Since S IMMO Group’s rental contracts are mostly linked to the 

euro and almost all of its loans are denominated in euro, the 

exchange rate risk is considered to be low. 

At 31 December 2011, 92% of the Group’s borrowings consisted 

of variable rate loans and 8% were fixed rate loans.

The variable rate loans are protected with hedging instruments 

such as caps, collars and swaps. 

The stress test (based on the position at 31 December 2011) 

shows that increases in the base rate (Euribor) have only an 

effect of roughly one third on the Group’s financing costs. For 

example, a 100 BP increase in Euribor increases financing costs 

by only 37 BP. 

In the financial year 2011, an expense of EUR 24,224,000 (2010: 

income of EUR 1,235,000) was recognised under equity with no 

effect on profit and loss, and an expense of EUR 3,295,000 

(2010: income of EUR 637,000) was recognised in the income 

statement as part of the financial results. In the financial year 

2011, there were no reclassifications from equity to the income 

statement. 
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5.2.2.	L iquidity and lender risks 
S IMMO Group manages liquidity and lender risks actively. As 

part of managing and monitoring liquidity, all maturities are 

subject to continual review, and where required appropriate 

adjustments are made as part of the rolling budget process. 

In  order to minimise liquidity risks, the Group ensures that a 

balanced relationship is maintained between the amounts of 

loans and the market values of the individual properties. In past 

years the loan to value ratio was about 60%. To keep lender risks 

to a minimum, S IMMO Group works with a total of 26 different, 

well-known financial institutions in Austria and Germany. 

5.2.2.1.	 Maturity analysis of financial liabilities 

31 December 2011

EUR ’000 

Subordinated 
participating 

certificate capital 
Financial 
liabilities Trade payables Other liabilities 

Remaining maturity less than 1 year 0 208,888 9,900 39,083

Remaining maturity between 1 and 5 years 0 328,918 0 9,717

Remaining maturity over 5 years 230,797 774,453 0 0

 230,797 1,312,259 9,900 48,800

31 December 2010

EUR ’000 

Subordinated 
participating 

certificate capital 
Financial 
liabilities Trade payables Other liabilities 

Remaining maturity less than 1 year 0 124,123 16,479 40,551

Remaining maturity between 1 and 5 years 0 409,438 0 10,955

Remaining maturity over 5 years 257,820 819,348 0 0

 257,820 1,352,909 16,479 51,506

Percentage of  
bank liabilities

Erste Group 38.5%

Other Austrian banks 45.5%

Insurance companies 9.5%

German banks 6.5%

Stress test (parallel shift in interest curve)
3-month 
Euribor Cost of funding

Differential  
cost of funding Interest sensitivity

Interest shift + 400 BP 5.36% 6.13% 148 BP 37%

Interest shift + 300 BP 4.36% 5.78% 113 BP 38%

Interest shift + 200 BP 3.36% 5.42% 77 BP 39%

Interest shift + 100 BP 2.36% 5.02% 37 BP 37%

Interest shift +    50 BP 1.86% 4.83% 18 BP 37%

Interest shift –      50 BP 0.86% 4.43% -22 BP -43%
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5.2.3.	 Borrower risks 
The amounts disclosed as assets represent the maximum 

default risk since there are no significant netting agreements. 

Default risks on receivables from tenants and purchasers of 

properties are – to the extent recognised – the subject of 

provisions, the basis of which is explained in note 2.7.7.2. 

5.3.	�	O ther obligations and contingent liabilities 

5.3.1.	 Rental agreements 
The tenancy agreements concluded by S IMMO Group are 

classified as operating leasing under IFRS. These tenancy 

agreements generally contain provisions specifying that rents 

and other fees are 

	 tied to the euro 

	 with capital values linked to international indexes. 

Total future minimum leasing payments from operating leasing 

agreements are as follows: 

EUR ’000 2011 2010

Following year 91,607 85,553

Following 2 to 5 years 264,433 260,097

More than 5 years 293,487 336,770

 649,527 682,420

5.3.2.	P ending litigation 
In S IMMO Group there were a number of open legal disputes at 

the balance sheet date, however the amounts involved were not 

significant individually, and even in total the amount was not 

material in Management’s estimation. 

5.4.		 Related party disclosures 
For S IMMO Group related parties are as follows: 

	 S IMMO Group’s managing bodies 

	 Erste Group 

	 Vienna Insurance Group 

	 Arealis Liegenschaftsmanagement GmbH 

Erste Group and Vienna Insurance Group are S IMMO AG’s 

strategic core shareholders. Arealis Liegenschaftsmanagement 

GmbH is a subsidiary of Erste Group and Vienna Insurance 

Group. 

S IMMO Group’s managing bodies were as follows: 

Management Board of S IMMO AG 

Holger Schmidtmayr MRICS, Vienna 

Ernst Vejdovszky, Vienna 

Friedrich Wachernig MBA, Vienna  

Supervisory Board of S IMMO AG 

Martin Simhandl, Vienna (Chairman) 

Gerald Antonitsch, Vienna (first deputy chairman) 

Franz Kerber, Graz (second deputy chairman) 

Christian Hager, Krems 

Erwin Hammerbacher, Vienna 

Michael Matlin MBA, New York

Wilhelm Rasinger, Vienna 

Ralf Zeitlberger, Vienna

In 2011, the remuneration received by members of the Manage-

ment Board totalled EUR 934,000 (2010: EUR 775,000). This 

included expenses for pensions of EUR 117,000 (2010: 

EUR 136,000) and contributions to the employee severance pay 

and pensions fund of EUR 9,000 (2010: EUR 9,000). Members 

of the Supervisory Board received remunerations amounting to 

EUR 123,000 (2010: EUR 110,000). Members of subsidiaries’ 

supervisory boards received no remuneration. Neither members 

of the Management Board nor Supervisory Board members 

received either loans or advances, and no guarantees have 

been given on their behalf. 

Erste Group provides S IMMO Group mainly with administrative, 

commission and financial services, while Vienna Insurance 

Group mostly provides financial and insurance services. 
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There were the following receivables and payables with Erste 

Group and Vienna Insurance Group at the end of the year: 

EUR ’000 
31 December 

2011
31 December 

2010

Other receivables 1,292 1,903

Bank balances 92,289 40,479

Receivables 93,581 42,382

Bank balances consist mainly of current accounts balances and 

time deposits at interest rates of between 0.3% and 1.5%. 

EUR ’000 
31 December 

2011
31 December 

2010

Non-current liabilities to 
banks 425,658 416,314

Non-current financial 
liabilities 61,593 83,607

Current bank and financial 
liabilities 103,150 86,901

Trade payables 668 1,103

Other liabilities 963 623

Liabilities 592,032 588,548

The financial liabilities and liabilities to banks were at interest 

rates of between 1.5% and 7.0% and for the most part with 

residual maturities of more than 5 years. 

There were the following material expenses and income in 

connection with Erste Group and Vienna Insurance Group in the 

financial years 2010 and 2011: 

EUR ’000 2011 2010

Commissions 60 602

Management fees  1,383 2,365

Bank loan interest and other 
interest and bank charges 29,125 21,295

Other expenses 2,183 1,575

Expenses 32,751 25,837

EUR ’000 2011 2010

Rent and service charges 1,081 789

Bank interest 261 140

Other interest income 267 162

Income 1,609 1,091

Under an agreement dated 14 January 2003, Erste Group 

Immorent AG has given S IMMO Group a rental guarantee for 

the property at Gasgasse 1 – 7, 1150 Vienna. The fee charged for 

this guarantee was EUR 3,000,000. 

Properties management for the majority of the Austrian proper-

ties is provided by Arealis Liegenschaftsmanagement GmbH, 

Vienna, in which Erste Group has a 50% interest. 

5.5.		 Significant events after balance sheet date 
In the first quarter of 2012, a further 128,198 shares were 

repurchased in the amount of EUR 554,000. The repurchase 

programme for S IMMO INVEST participating certificates 

resolved in the previous year will continue until 20 June 2012 at 

the latest. At the time of going to press no further participating 

certificates were repurchased. 

Furthermore, six residential properties in Berlin and one office 

property in Munich were sold. 

Vienna, 29 March 2012

Management Board 

Holger Schmidtmayr MRICS m.p. 	

Ernst Vejdovszky m.p. 

Friedrich Wachernig MBA m.p. 

S IMMO AG | Annual financial report 2011 70



71 

Annual financial Report 2011 | Auditors’ Report

Auditors’ Report

REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of  

S IMMO AG, Vienna, for the year ended 31  December 2011. 

These consolidated financial statements comprise the 

consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2011, and the 

consolidated income statement and statement of total com

prehensive income, the statement of changes in stockholders’ 

equity and the cash flow statement, all for the year ended  

31 December 2011, together with the notes to the consolidated 

financial statements. 

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated 
financial statements
Management is responsible for group accounting and for the 

preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU. This responsibility 

includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal 

controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 

consolidated financial statements that are free of material mis-

statement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 

appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 

estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility and the statutory audit
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated 

financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 

audit in accordance with laws and regulations applicable in 

Austria and in accordance with the International Standards on 

Auditing (ISAs) published by the International Auditing and 

Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) of the International 

Federation of Accountants (IFAC).  These standards require that 

we comply with ethical requirements and that we perform the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial 

statements are free of material misstatements. 

An audit involves the performance of procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consoli

dated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on 

the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risk of 

material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error. In making these risk assessments the auditor 

considers internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of consolidated financial statements in order to  

design audit procedures appropriate under the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls. 
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An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the 

accounting and valuation policies used and the reasonableness 

of accounting estimates made by Management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
Our audit did not give rise to any objections. In our opinion, 

which is based on the results of our audit, the consolidated 

financial statements comply with legal requirements and give a 

true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as of 

31 December 2011 and of its financial performance and its cash 

flows for the fiscal year from 01 January 2011 to 31 December 

2011 in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU.

Comments on the Management Report for the Group
Pursuant to statutory provisions, the management report for the 

Group is to be audited as to whether it is consistent with the 

consolidated financial statements and as to whether the other 

disclosures are not misleading with respect to the company’s 

position. The auditor’s report also has to contain a statement as 

to whether the management report for the Group is consistent 

with the consolidated financial statements and whether the 

disclosures pursuant to section 243a UGB (Austrian Commer-

cial Code) are appropriate. In our opinion, the management 

report for the Group is consistent with the consolidated financial 

statements. The disclosures pursuant to section 243a UGB 

(Austrian Commercial Code) are appropriate.

Vienna, 29 March 2012

Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH

Walter Müller m.p.

Auditor

p.p. Wolfgang Arndorfer m.p.

Auditor

This English translation of the audit report was prepared for the client’s convenience only. It is no legally relevant translation of the 

German audit report.
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Dear Shareholders,  

In an economically challenging environment, the financial year 2011 went well for S IMMO AG. On the one hand, important key figures 

for S IMMO Group improved. On the other hand, the Group also looks back at successful leases. In addition, S IMMO held its own 

in the highly turbulent and volatile capital markets, with the S IMMO Share ending the year better than the industry average. For the 

current financial year 2012, in which S IMMO AG has its 25th anniversary, the Company 

is very well positioned.

In the past year, the Supervisory Board assisted the Company and the Management 

Board in all the Group’s projects. Throughout the year, we carried out our duties under 

the law, the Company’s articles of incorporation and its internal rules and procedures 

at the Supervisory Board and Supervisory Board committee meetings. We also 

supported the Management Board in its management of the Group and monitored it 

in the performance of its duties.  

The Supervisory and Management Boards of S IMMO AG met four times during the 

year to discuss the Group’s economic situation, risk management, strategic develop-

ment and business development, especially in light of the persistent weakness of the 

markets. At each meeting, the Management Board reported to the Supervisory Board 

in full on the state of the Group’s affairs and its finances as well as on strategic 

considerations. Individual topics of current interest were also the subject of separate 

discussions between the Management Board and the Supervisory Board. 

Between six and eight Board Members were present at each of the four Supervisory 

Board meetings, representing an average attendance rate of 87.5%.

S IMMO AG has subscribed to the Austrian Corporate Governance Code since 2007. The obligations in the Code go beyond the 

statutory requirements applicable to public limited companies; they are adopted voluntarily and are designed to ensure even greater 

transparency in reporting. In this context, it should be mentioned that the Supervisory Board will carry out a self-evaluation from 

2012 onwards. 

The Supervisory Board has formed three committees: the Management Board Committee, the Audit Committee and the Working 

Committee. The duties and composition of the committees are detailed in the corporate governance part of this report (pages 

75 – 78). In the Supervisory Board and in the committee meetings, no agenda items were discussed without the participation of 

Management Board members. In addition, a circular resolution was approved in writing. 

Annual financial Report 2011 | Report of the Supervisory Board

Martin Simhandl
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The Working Committee held two meetings to consider property 

disposals planned during the year. The Audit Committee met 

twice in the financial year 2011 to monitor the accounting 

process, Group auditing activities, the effectiveness of the 

internal control and risk management system, the audit system 

and the compliance report. The Management Board Committee 

did not meet in 2011. 

In preparation for the Supervisory Board’s nomination of auditors 

for the Company’s individual and consolidated annual financial 

statements, the Audit Committee reviewed the documentation 

submitted by Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH 

evidencing their right to practise as auditors. A written report 

confirmed that there were neither grounds for exclusion, nor any 

circumstances that could give rise to conflicts of interest.  

A schedule of the total remuneration paid to Deloitte by S IMMO 

AG relating to the preceding financial year, itemised by catego-

ries of services, was requested and inspected. It was confirmed 

that Deloitte complies with the legally required quality assurance 

measures for maintaining audit quality. The Audit Committee 

reported to the Supervisory Board on its work and its findings in 

these matters. The Supervisory Board therefore proposed to the 

Annual General Meeting the appointment of Deloitte Audit Wirt-

schaftsprüfungs GmbH as auditors of the Company’s individual 

and consolidated annual financial statements for the financial 

year 2011.

The Audit Committee received the submission of the annual 

financial statements for 2011 by the Management Board together 

with the management report and the corporate governance 

report. They inspected these documents, and approved them 

on the basis of the audit reports by Deloitte Audit Wirtschafts

prüfungs GmbH. 

The Audit Committee also reviewed the consolidated financial 

statements prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) together with the Group manage-

ment report. In the course of this review, the Management 

Board’s proposal for profit distribution was also discussed. On 

the basis of its review and discussions, the Audit Committee 

resolved to recommend to the Supervisory Board the accept-

ance without reservation of the statements, report and reviews. 

The Supervisory Board discussed in detail and reviewed the 

annual financial statements for 2011 together with the 

management report and corporate governance report and the 

consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with 

IFRS together with the Group management report. The audit 

reports prepared by Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH 

on the annual financial statements for 2011 together with the 

management report and the consolidated financial statements 

together with the Group management report were also  

examined by the Audit Committee and the full Supervisory 

Board. Later, these were discussed in detail together with 

Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH. The audit conclusions 

gave no grounds for objection. The Supervisory Board declared 

that it had nothing to add to the audit reports by the auditors. 

The Supervisory Board therefore resolved to accept the annual 

financial statements and management report prepared by the 

Management Board and had no objections to the consolidated 

financial statements and Group management report prepared in 

accordance with IFRS. It also declared itself in agreement with 

the Management Board’s proposal for the appropriation of  

profit. In accordance with section 96(4) Austrian Companies Act 

(AktG), the annual financial statements for 2011 were therefore 

adopted. 

The Supervisory Board proposes for the Annual General  

Meeting to decide on profit distribution in accordance with the 

Management Board’s proposal and discharge the Management 

Board and Supervisory Board from liability. 

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Management 

Board and staff of S IMMO AG for their daily hard work and 

dedication and congratulate them on the 25th anniversary of the 

Company.

Vienna, April 2012

The Supervisory Board

Martin Simhandl

Chairman
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CLEAR COMMITMENT TO THE AUSTRIAN 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE 

The fundamental principles underlying good corporate 

governance are an integral part of what S IMMO AG stands for. 

From its beginnings 25 years ago, the main principles of S IMMO 

AG’s business strategy 

have been sustainability 

and long-term growth, 

which is why the Manage-

ment and Supervisory 

Boards work so efficiently 

together. The corporate 

communications and investor relations activities are based on 

openness and transparency. 

TRANSPARENT COMMUNICATION AND REPORTING  

The provision of transparent, prompt information to share

holders, analysts and all other interested parties – while 

observing the provisions of company law and stock exchange 

regulations – is a cornerstone of S  IMMO AG’s corporate 

strategy. Important business events and information relevant to 

the Company’s performance are made public without delay. This 

applies in particular to ad hoc and press releases as well as 

annual and quarterly financial reports. Additionally, all important 

announcements, releases, reports and presentations are 

published on S IMMO AG’s website immediately. 

COMPLIANCE STATEMENT 

Since 2007, S IMMO AG has been expressly committed to complying 
with the provisions and recommendations of the Austrian Corporate 
Governance Code (ÖCGK). The full rules and regulations for responsible 
management and leadership of enterprises can be found on the website 
of the Austrian Working Group for Corporate Governance.  

The key elements of corporate governance at S IMMO AG are explained 
on pages 75 –78. Additional information is contained in the Supervisory 
Board’s report. To avoid repetition, some aspects are discussed in other 
parts of the Annual Report, to which reference is then made. 

Updated information on corporate governance is posted on S IMMO AG’s 
website on a regular basis: www.simmoag.at/en/cgk

The rules of the Austrian Corporate Governance Code are as follows: 

1.	� L Rules (legal requirements): L Rules are based on mandatory 
statutory requirements. 

2.	� C Rules (comply or explain): C Rules should be complied with. 
According to the Code, any non-compliance must be explained 
and justified. 

3.	� R Rules (recommendations): R Rules are recommendations. Non-
compliance needs neither be disclosed nor justified. 

S IMMO AG fully complies with all the L Rules. 

Referring to L Rule 60, S IMMO AG is fully committed to the advancement 
of women in management positions. Around 55% of the staff are women, 
and in leading management positions, roughly 21% of the employees are 
women. S IMMO AG has taken specific measures to ensure that in filling 
senior managerial positions, the advancement of women will also be 
given greater emphasis in future. Given the existing long-term appoint-
ments, specific measures to appoint women to the Management and 
Supervisory Boards are not currently under consideration. With the 
Group’s best interests in mind, the emphasis when making appointments 
to the Boards has been on the maximum possible degree of professional 
skill and international experience. Considerations such as gender are 
only taken into account as a secondary factor. Where appropriate, how-
ever, when men and women are equally qualified and experienced, 
S IMMO AG will give preference to women in order to encourage their 
participation in the Management and Supervisory Boards. 

S IMMO AG also complies with almost all the C Rules, with the  
exceptions explained below. 

C Rule 16: “The management board shall consist of more than one 
person, and shall have a chairperson.” 

The Supervisory Board has not appointed a chairperson of the 
Management Board, because it is of the opinion that the duties and 

Information about corporate governance:

www.simmoag.at/en/cgk

www.corporate-governance.at

Corporate Governance Report 

The Austrian Corporate Governance Code contains rules for the management and control of an enterprise  
and therefore forms the basis of responsible management. In 2011, S IMMO AG again complied with the 
requirements of the Code.
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responsibilities of all three members of the Management Board are  
of equal importance, and because it believes that the Company is 
adequately represented by individual Management Board members  
with collective authority. 

C Rule 31: “The fixed and performance-related compensation of each 
member of the management board shall be disclosed separately in the 
annual report.” 

The total remuneration of the Management Board is disclosed in this 
report. The disclosure of their individual remuneration is the personal 
decision of each Management Board member. In the Management 
Board’s opinion, such disclosure does not provide important information 
for investors. 

C Rule 36: “The supervisory board shall discuss the efficiency of its 
activities annually, in particular, its organisation and work procedures 
(self-evaluation).” 

The Supervisory Board has already discussed the self-evaluation and will 
implement it from 2012. 

C Rule 45: “Members of the supervisory board may not exercise 
managing body functions at other companies that are in competition with 
the company.” 

Certain members of the Supervisory Board of S IMMO AG also serve on 
the boards of similar companies or perform executive functions at Erste 
Group Bank AG, its wholly owned subsidiary Erste Group Immorent AG 
or Vienna Insurance Group. 

All members of the Supervisory Board are obliged to disclose any 
conflicts of interest arising from their activities as members of the Super
visory Board without delay. In any event, the Company considers the 
extensive knowledge of the industry and the networks of certain Super
visory Board members to be an advantage from which it can benefit. 

C Rule 49: “The company shall disclose in its annual report details of  
the objects and remuneration of contracts and agreements requiring 
approval under L Rule 48. Summary disclosure of agreements of similar 
kinds is permissible.” 

The Company may enter into contractual relationships with individual 
members of the Supervisory Board, or with businesses in which Super
visory Board members have an interest or exercise a management body 
function. To the extent that such contractual agreements require the 
approval of the Supervisory Board under section 95 Austrian Companies 
Act (AktG) and L Rule 48, approval has been sought and obtained. The 
details of such contracts and agreements are not disclosed for reasons 
of competition. All such contracts and agreements are concluded on 
normal market conditions. 

As a member of the European Public Real Estate Association 

(EPRA), S IMMO AG has adopted the guidelines and standards 

of that organisation. These cover the disclosure of information, 

ethical principles and industry standards. EPRA’s guidelines are 

based on the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

and provide specific accounting recommendations for listed  

real estate companies. In the interests of transparent and 

comparable reporting, S  IMMO AG implements these recom

mendations in the detailed notes to the consolidated  

financial statements. 

COMPOSITION, ACTIVITIES AND PROCEDURES OF 
THE MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BOARDS 

The Management and Supervisory Boards are fully conscious of 

their responsibility for ensuring long-term sustainable value 

creation and the continuing success of the Group. The intensive, 

ongoing dialogue between the two Boards is the basis of  

efficient and competent management. 

The Management Board 

consists of three members, who 

are jointly responsible for 

managing the Company’s day-

to-day affairs. The Management 

Board discusses current 

business developments several times a week and holds regular 

Management Board meetings. There is an ongoing exchange of 

information with the managers responsible for the various 

departments. 

The Management Board also provides the Supervisory Board 

with information about all material aspects of the progress of 

business and all strategic considerations. Collaboration between 

the two Boards is governed by the Austrian Companies Act, the 

Company’s articles of incorporation as well as the rules and 

procedures established by the Supervisory Board. 

As at 31 December 2011, the Supervisory Board consisted of 

eight members. 

European Public Real

Estate Association (EPRA):

www.epra.com
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The Supervisory Board regularly reviews the management of  

the Company’s affairs. In its meetings, the Supervisory Board 

monitors the management of the business, the finances, 

strategy, performance and risk management of the Company.  

It is responsible for decision making as provided by statute, 

Company articles of incorporation as well as internal rules and 

procedures. The Supervisory Board has formed committees, 

which are listed below. During the year under review, there were 

a total of four Supervisory Board meetings. At each of the 

Supervisory Board’s meetings, between six and eight Board 

members were present, representing an average attendance 

rate of 87.5%. 

SUPERVISORY BOARD COMMITTEES 

Audit Committee 
The functions of the Audit Committee include monitoring the 

accounting and reporting process and the work of the auditors, 

monitoring the effectiveness of the Internal Control System and 

the risk management system, and monitoring the processes of 

auditing the Group’s financial statements. The Audit Committee 

consisted of the following members: Martin Simhandl (Chair-

man), Gerald Antonitsch, Erwin Hammerbacher, Ralf Zeitlberger 

and Wilhelm Rasinger (alternate). In virtue of their experience 

and specialist knowledge of finance and accounting, Martin 

Simhandl and Ralf Zeitlberger are the Committee’s financial 

experts. The Audit Committee met twice during the year under 

review. 

Management Board Committee 
(appointments and remuneration)
The Management Board Committee deals with the remuneration 

of Management Board members and the details of employment 

contracts for Management Board members. It is also respon

sible for submitting proposals to the Supervisory Board for the 

appointment of Management Board members when positions 

become vacant, and for succession planning. The Committee 

consisted of the following members: Martin Simhandl (Chair-

man), Gerald Antonitsch and Franz Kerber. The Management 

Board Committee did not meet during the year under review. 

Working Committee 
The Working Committee is responsible for authorising on behalf 

of the full Supervisory Board transactions for the acquisition and 

disposal of businesses, business interests or properties up to a 

maximum value of EUR 60m in cases where seeking the 

approval of the full Supervisory Board would be impractical due 

to lack of time or other organisational constraints. The members 

of the Working Committee were Gerald Antonitsch (Chairman), 

Erwin Hammerbacher, Franz Kerber and Ralf Zeitlberger. The 

Working Committee met twice during the year under review. 

STATEMENT OF INDEPENDENCE 

S IMMO AG’s Supervisory Board has established the following 

criteria for the independence of its members as required under 

C Rule 53 of the Austrian Corporate Governance Code:

 

	 A Supervisory Board member should not in the preceding 

five years have been a member of the Management Board or 

executive officer of S IMMO AG or one of its subsidiaries. 

	 A Supervisory Board member should not maintain, or in the 

preceding year have maintained, a business relationship of 

material importance to that Supervisory Board member with 

S  IMMO AG or one of its subsidiaries. This applies also to 

business relationships with enterprises in which the Supervisory 

Board member has a material interest. The approval of  

individual transactions by the Supervisory Board in accordance 

with L Rule 48 does not automatically mean that a person is not 

independent. 
	 A Supervisory Board member should not have served as 

statutory auditor to S IMMO AG, or have had an interest in, or 

been an employee of the auditing firm in the preceding three 

years. 

	 A Supervisory Board member should not be a member of 

the management board of another company where a member of 

the Management Board of S IMMO AG is a member of that com-

pany’s supervisory board. 

	 A Supervisory Board member should not be a close family 

member (direct descendant, spouse, domestic partner, parent, 

uncle, aunt, sibling, nephew, niece) of a member of the Manage-

ment Board or of persons in any of the positions described 

above. 

For the financial year 2011, the following members of the 

Supervisory Board, who together constitute the majority of the 

Supervisory Board, are independent in the meaning of C Rule 53 

and C Rule 54 of the Corporate Governance Code. These mem-

bers satisfy the Supervisory Board’s criteria for independence. 

Current independent members of the Supervisory Board: 
Martin Simhandl (in the meaning of C Rule 53) 

Franz Kerber (in the meaning of C Rules 53 and 54) 

Christian Hager (in the meaning of C Rules 53 and 54) 

Erwin Hammerbacher (in the meaning of C Rule 53) 

Michael Matlin (in the meaning of C Rule 53) 

Wilhelm Rasinger (in the meaning of C Rules 53 and 54) 

Ralf Zeitlberger (in the meaning of C Rules 53 and 54)
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DIRECTORS’ DEALINGS

Under section 48d(4) Austrian Stock Exchange Act (BörseG), 

S IMMO AG is required to report all share purchases and sales 

by members of management bodies or persons in close 

relationships with them. In the financial year 2011, the purchase 

of 2,000 shares by a member of the Management Board was 

reported to the Financial Market Authority. In accordance with 

the requirements of the Code, dealings by members of the 

Management and Supervisory Boards (directors’ dealings) are 

disclosed on S IMMO AG’s website (www.simmoag.at/en) under 

Investor Relations/Corporate Governance/Directors’ Dealings. 

D&O INSURANCE 

Pursuant to a resolution of the Annual General Meeting 2009, a 

directors and officers liability insurance policy has been in force 

since 01 September 2009. Under this policy, claims by the 

Company, the shareholders or third parties against members of 

managing bodies or executive officers of the Company for 

damages arising from breaches of the duty of care by members 

of managing bodies or executive officers are insured. The costs 

of the insurance are borne by the Company. 

REMUNERATION OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD 

Members of the Supervisory Board received remuneration 

amounting to EUR 123,336 (2010: EUR 110,000). Pursuant to a 

resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 23 June 2009, the 

annual remuneration is EUR 15,000 for the Chairman of the 

Supervisory Board, EUR 12,000 for the Deputy Chairmen and 

EUR 9,000 for each member of the Supervisory Board. 

Additionally, there is an attendance fee of EUR 500 for every 

Supervisory Board or Committee meeting attended. Supervisory 

Board members received neither loans nor advances, and no 

guarantees have been given on their behalf. 

REMUNERATION OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD 

The remuneration of the members of the Management Board 

usually consists of a fixed component and a variable, profit-

related component of up to a maximum of 75% of the fixed 

remuneration. Profit participation is dependent on the achieve-

ment of quantitative and qualitative targets, such as consoli

dated earnings, cash flow and occupancy rate. In the financial 

year 2011, there were no variable bonus payments to members 

of the Management Board. During the financial year 2011, the 

total remuneration of the Management Board amounted to 

EUR 934,000 (2010: EUR 775,000). This included expenses for 

pensions of EUR 117,000 (2010: EUR 136,000) and contribu-

tions to the employee severance pay and pensions fund of 

EUR 9,000 (2010: EUR 9,000). S IMMO AG has no stock option 

plan at present and no separate dismissal entitlements for 

Management Board members.

AUDITORS 

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting 2011, Deloitte Audit 

Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH was appointed as statutory auditors. 

The auditors assist the Supervisory Board in assessing whether 

appropriate accounting policies have been applied, and  

whether the accounts and financial statements conform with the 

applicable statutory regulations and are reasonable and reliable. 

The auditors must immediately report to the Supervisory Board 

on any deficiencies revealed by the audit. This also applies to 

any discrepancies in the compliance statement made by the 

Supervisory and Management Boards in connection with the 

Austrian Corporate Governance Code. 

Holger Schmidtmayr Ernst Vejdovszky Friedrich Wachernig
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